FREE BOUNDARY REGULARITY FOR A SPECTRAL OPTIMAL PARTITION PROBLEM WITH VOLUME AND INCLUSION CONSTRAINTS

DARIO MAZZOLENI, MAKSON S. SANTOS AND HUGO TAVARES

ABSTRACT. This paper is devoted to a complete characterization of the free boundary of a particular solution to the following spectral k-partition problem with measure and inclusion constraints:

$$\inf \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{k} \lambda_1(\omega_i) : \begin{array}{c} \omega_i \subset \Omega \text{ are nonempty open sets for all } i = 1, \dots, k, \\ \omega_i \cap \omega_j = \emptyset \text{ for all } i \neq j \text{ and } \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\omega_i| = a \end{array} \right\}$$

where Ω is a bounded domain of \mathbb{R}^N , $a \in (0, |\Omega|)$. In particular, we prove free boundary conditions, classify contact points, characterize the regular and singular part of the free boundary (including branching points), and describe the interaction of the partition with the fixed boundary $\partial\Omega$.

The proof is based on a perturbed version of the problem, combined with monotonicity formulas, blowup analysis and classification of blowups, suitable deformations of optimal sets and eigenfunctions, as well as the improvement of flatness of [Russ-Trey-Velichkov, CVPDE 58, 2019] for the one-phase points, and of [De Philippis-Spolaor-Velichkov, Invent. Math. 225, 2021] at two-phase points.

Keywords: Free boundary regularity, spectral partition problems, measure and inclusion constraints, monotonicity formulas, optimality conditions, classification of contact points.

MSC(2020): 35R35, 49Q10, 47A75, 49K20.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1. State of the art and related problems	3
1.2. Strategy of the proof	4
2. A penalized problem. Existence, nondegeneracy, Lipschitz continuity, finite perimeter,	
density estimates.	5
2.1. Uniform bounds, variational inequalities and regularity of minimizers	6
2.2. Nondegeneracy of eigenfunctions and density estimate from below	12
2.3. The optimal sets have finite perimeter	18
3. Two-phase points in the interior and one-phase point on the boundary	19
3.1. Absence of triple points in Ω	19
3.2. Absence of two-phase point on the boundary of Ω	19
4. Existence of a one-phase point, shape variations at the free boundary, and equivalence with	
the constrained problem	20
5. Classification of blowups at two-phase points	24
5.1. Alt-Caffarelli-Friedman type monotonicity formulas. Blowups are two-plane functions	25
5.2. Conclusion of the classification of blowup limits at two-phase points. Proof of Theorem 5.1	29
6. Optimality conditions in the viscosity sense. Conclusion of the proof	33
A. Some useful results and remarks	36
A.1. Some fact about Geometric Measure Theory	37
A.2. Some facts about quasi-open sets	37
References	38

1. INTRODUCTION

This paper is devoted to a complete characterization of a solution to a spectral partition problem settled in a box and with measure constraints. More precisely, given $k \in \mathbb{N}$, a bounded Lipschitz domain

 $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ and $a \in (0, |\Omega|)$, we study the problem:

$$\Lambda_{1,k}(a) := \inf \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{k} \lambda_1(\omega_i) : \begin{array}{c} \omega_i \subset \Omega \text{ are nonempty open sets for all } i = 1, \dots, k, \\ \omega_i \cap \omega_j = \emptyset \text{ for all } i \neq j \text{ and } \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\omega_i| = a \end{array} \right\}.$$
(1.1)

In [6], it is shown that an optimizer always exists and that, moreover, if $(\Omega_1, \ldots, \Omega_k)$ is any optimizer and we take, for each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, $u_i \in H_0^1(\Omega_i)$ to be an associated first eigenfunction for the set Ω_i , then u_i is locally Lipschitz continuous in Ω . The aim of the present paper is to pursue a deeper study of the problem: we will provide a complete description of the free boundary $\bigcup_{i=1}^k \partial \Omega_i$ (regularity, characterization and properties of contact points between different elements of the partition, interaction with the fixed boundary $\partial \Omega, \ldots$) for a specific solution of (1.1).

In order to state our results, we introduce some notation. Let $(\Omega_1, \ldots, \Omega_k)$ be a partition of Ω , i.e., $\Omega_1, \ldots, \Omega_k \subset \Omega$ are open sets, and $\Omega_i \cap \Omega_j = \emptyset$ for every $i \neq j$. For each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, we define the following mutually disjoint sets:

• $\Gamma_{OP}(\partial \Omega_i)$ denotes the set of *interior one-phase points*, namely

$$\Gamma_{OP}(\partial\Omega_i) = (\partial\Omega_i \cap \Omega) \setminus \bigcup_{j \neq i} \partial\Omega_j;$$

• $\Gamma_B(\partial\Omega_i)$ denotes the sets of one-phase points on the boundary of $\partial\Omega$, namely

$$\Gamma_B(\partial\Omega_i) = (\partial\Omega_i \cap \partial\Omega) \setminus \bigcup_{j \neq i} \partial\Omega_j;$$

• $\Gamma_{TP}(\partial \Omega_i)$ denotes the sets of *interior* two-phase points:

$$\Gamma_{TP}(\partial\Omega_i) = \Big\{ x \in (\partial\Omega_i \cap \partial\Omega_j \cap \Omega) \setminus \bigcup_{k \neq j, i} \partial\Omega_k \text{ for some } j \neq i \Big\}.$$

Our main result is the following.

Theorem 1.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded Lipschitz domain. There exists an optimal partition $(\Omega_1, \ldots, \Omega_k)$ of (1.1) with the following properties. For each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, the boundary $\partial \Omega_i$ of each set Ω_i can be decomposed as the following disjoint union

$$\partial \Omega_i = \Gamma_{OP}(\partial \Omega_i) \cup \Gamma_{TP}(\partial \Omega_i) \cup \Gamma_B(\partial \Omega_i),$$

Moreover:

(1) $\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega$ can be decomposed as a disjoint union of a regular and a (possibly empty) singular part,

$$\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega = \operatorname{Reg} \left(\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega \right) \cup \operatorname{Sing} \left(\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega \right),$$

where:

(a) the regular part $\operatorname{Reg}(\partial\Omega_i \cap \Omega)$ is a relatively open subset of $\partial\Omega_i \cap \Omega$ and it is of class $C^{1,\alpha}$ for all $\alpha \in (0, 1/2]$. Moreover, the two-phase free boundary is regular, that is,

$$\Gamma_{TP}(\Omega_i) \subset \operatorname{Reg}\left(\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega\right);$$

- (b) the singular set Sing $(\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega)$ is a closed subset of $\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega$ of Hausdorff dimension at most N-5. Precisely, there is a critical dimension $N^* \in \{5, 6, 7\}$ such that
 - if $N < N^*$, then Sing $(\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega) = \emptyset$;
 - if $N = N^*$, then Sing $(\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega)$ is locally finite in Ω ;
 - if $N > N^*$, then Sing $(\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega)$ is a closed $(N N^*)$ -rectifiable subset of $\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega$ with locally finite \mathcal{H}^{N-N^*} measure.
- (2) If, in addition, Ω is of class $C^{1,1}$, then the full $\partial \Omega_i$ can be decomposed as the disjoint union of a regular part Reg $(\partial \Omega_i)$ and a singular part Sing $(\partial \Omega_i)$, where:
 - (a) Reg $(\partial \Omega_i)$ is an open subset of $\partial \Omega_i$ and locally the graph of a $C^{1,1/2}$ function; moreover, Reg $(\partial \Omega_i)$ contains both Reg $(\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega)$ and $\partial \Omega_i \cap \partial \Omega$;
 - (b) Sing $(\partial \Omega_i) =$ Sing $(\partial \Omega_i \cap \Omega)$.

Remark 1.2. We highlight that, in Theorem 1.1, the assumption that Ω has Lipschitz boundary is needed only to show that there are no two-phase points at the fixed boundary $\partial\Omega$ (see Section 3.2 below). For the inner regularity results (namely, of $\partial\Omega_{u_i} \cap \Omega$) it is enough to consider a bounded domain Ω .

Observe that, for the one-phase problem k = 1, a complete characterization of solutions has been obtained in a collection of works [9, 10, 11, 42], and we will comment this below in this introduction.

Before we explain the strategy of the proof of Theorem 1.1, we provide the state of the art of this topic, pointing out what are the similarities and differences with related open partition problems in the literature.

1.1. State of the art and related problems. The study of shape optimization for spectral functionals has been a very active topic in the last few years, see [32] for a general overview. The interest is motivated both by the several applications in physics and engineering, where these quantities naturally arise, and by the mathematical beauty and difficulty of the problems in this field. We will focus the discussion here on spectral functionals with eigenvalues of the Dirichlet Laplacian (and, above all, the first Dirichlet eigenvalue) but other boundary conditions or other operators could also be considered. Concerning optimal partitions for the (sum of the) first eigenvalues of the Dirichlet Laplacian, in the last 20 years there has been a flourishing of works, mostly for two main classes of problems, and nowadays several properties of optimizers are well-understood. The first class of spectral optimal partitions for the principal Dirichlet that has been studied starting from [18] and [20, 21] is the following:

$$\inf\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{k} \lambda_1(\omega_i) : \begin{array}{c} \omega_i \subset \Omega \text{ are nonempty open sets for all } i = 1, \dots, k, \\ \omega_i \cap \omega_j = \emptyset \text{ for all } i \neq j \end{array}\right\},\tag{1.2}$$

which corresponds to $a = |\Omega|$ in (1.1), that is, it coincides with the level $\Lambda_{1,k}(|\Omega|)$ (since, by minimality, the solution to (1.2) exhausts the whole domain Ω). In this setting, it is known [18, 20, 47] that optimal partitions exists, and that the interior free boundary, i.e. $\cup_i \partial \omega_i \cap \Omega$, is regular, up to a singular set of lower dimension. A deeper analysis of the singular set has been carried out much more recently in [2], where the author proves both that the (N-2)-Hausdorff dimension of the singular set is finite, as well as a stratification result. Let us notice that, in this case, also the problem for higher eigenvalues has been studied in [41]. We also point out to the reader the very recent work [40], where the boundary regularity (namely, at the intersection with the boundary box Ω) is considered for the sum of first Dirichlet eigenvalues. Let us stress that the shape and properties of the optimal sets in this case are rather different from the ones of our problem (1.1): in our case, as stated in Theorem 1.1, the free boundary $\cup_{i=1}^k \partial \Omega_i$ can not contain triple or higher multiplicity points, and it intersects the boundary of Ω at one-phase points tangentially. This is in sharp contrast with spectral partition problems without measure constraints (1.2), where triple points may appear and the sets of the optimal partition reach the boundary of the box orthogonally.

Another optimal partition problem which has been considered in the literature [7, 12, 24, 45] and whose behavior is more similar to that of our problem (1.1) is:

$$\inf\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{k}\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i})+m\sum_{i=1}^{k}|\omega_{i}|: \quad \begin{array}{c} \omega_{i} \subset \Omega \text{ are nonempty open sets for all } i=1,\ldots,k, \\ \omega_{i}\cap\omega_{j}=\emptyset \text{ for all } i\neq j \end{array}\right\}, \quad (1.3)$$

for m > 0. The properties of the solutions of (1.1) and of (1.3) are the same, see [24, Corollary 1.3]. The main results of existence and regularity of the solutions for this problem have been proved first by Bucur and Velichkov [12], and then improved in the works [7, 45], while the complete regularity picture has been proved in [24].

In this setting, it is also interesting to study the *one-phase* case, namely k = 1. Extensive work has been conducted in this topic, starting from the existence result by Buttazzo and Dal Maso [13] in the framework of capacitary measures and quasi-open sets. In this case, the regularity of the optimal sets comes directly from the associated one-phase free boundary problems [3], see also [9, 10]. Several works concerning the regularity of optimal shapes have been done, on the other hand, in the case of higher eigenvalues [11, 35, 38] in \mathbb{R}^N (where it is easy to prove, by scaling, the equivalence with a constraint problem), and [39] for the second eigenvalue in a bounded Ω .

We highlight that problems (1.1) and (1.3) are not equivalent. Instead, it has been shown in [6] that (1.1) is equivalent to

$$\inf\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{k}\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i})+\mu\left(\sum_{i=1}^{k}|\omega_{i}|-a\right)^{+}: \begin{array}{c}\omega_{i}\subset\Omega \text{ are nonempty open sets for all }i=1,\ldots,k,\\ \omega_{i}\cap\omega_{j}=\emptyset \text{ for all }i\neq j\end{array}\right\} (1.4)$$

for sufficiently large $\mu > 0$. Even though this problem may look similar to (1.4), the term with the positive part lacks good Lipschitz-type estimates from below, which creates several difficulties in terms of the study of free boundaries (for example, in the proofs of nondegeneracy properties or of finite perimeter). In conclusion, the technical issues due to the measure constraint do not allow to apply directly the known results for (1.3), but rather require the development of several new ideas and tools. This is not surprising, as also in the case of the one-phase problem, namely k = 1, the study of the problem with the measure constraint requires substantial additional work [10, 42]. The arguments therein use strongly the deduction of a Euler-Lagrange equation, and in particular a local minimality property for $\lambda_1(\cdot) + \Lambda_{\pm}|\cdot|$ for inner and outer perturbations respectively. However, this is also a property which seems specific of one-phase problems, and in order to deal with multiple phases we have to follows a different direction, see Subsection 1.2.

Although we have seen that the features of problems (1.2) and (1.3) are rather different, the main techniques to study the regularity of the sets of an optimal partition are based on the tools developed in the framework of free boundary problems. These tools and ideas will be crucial also in our paper as well, as it can be guessed already from the statement of our main result. Therefore, we try to summarize (without any claim of completeness) also the most important results on the regularity theory for free boundary problems.

One-phase free boundary problems. The first and seminal paper on the regularity theory for one-phase free boundary problems was developed by Alt and Caffarelli [3], for functionals of type

$$J(u) = \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla u|^2 + Q(x)\chi_{\{u>0\}}) \, dx, \qquad u = u_0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega,$$
(1.5)

where Q is a Hölder continuous given function and $u_0 \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega, \mathbb{R}^+)$. They prove existence of minimizers, nondegeneracy, Lipschitz continuity of optimizers, finite perimeter of the free boundary, and that the reduced boundary is $C^{1,\alpha}$ (while the remaining singular set has \mathcal{H}^{N-1} measure zero). Several important tools have been developed to show those properties, such as harmonic extensions to build suitable competitors, and blowup analysis. Higher regularity results for the reduced boundary, namely the passage from $C^{1,\alpha}$ to analytic (if Q is regular enough), employ the renowned techniques of Kinderlehrer-Nirenberg [34].

Concerning the singular set, in [3] it is shown that it is empty in dimension 2. Then a stratification result was first done by Weiss [52], introducing a monotonicity formula: namely, calling N^* the lowest dimension for which the Alt-Caffarelli functional (1.5) admits a one-homogeneous singular local minimizer in the whole space $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^N$, he proved that the singular set has at most dimension $N - N^*$ and $N^* \geq 3$. Then several works [17, 33, 27, 29] improved the result by showing that $N^* \in \{5, 6, 7\}$, that the singular set has \mathcal{H}^{N-N^*} -finite measure, and it is $(N - N^*)$ -rectifiable.

Two-phase free boundary problems. The first paper on two-phase free boundary problems in this setting is the celebrated work by Alt, Caffarelli, and Friedman [4], concerning the functional

$$J_{tp}(u) = \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla u|^2 + \lambda_+^2 \chi_{\{u>0\}} + \lambda_-^2 \chi_{\{u<0\}} + \lambda_0^2 \chi_{\{u=0\}}) \, dx, \qquad u = v \text{ on } \partial\Omega, \tag{1.6}$$

where $v \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ and $\lambda_{\pm} \geq \lambda_0 > 0$ (actually, they considered the simplified version where $\lambda_+ \neq \lambda_$ and $\lambda_+ = \lambda_0$ or $\lambda_- = \lambda_0$ so that the zero region has zero measure). In this work, the fundamental ACFmonotonicity formula was first introduced. Then, several regularity results in the two-phase setting have been deduced, see for instance [14, 15, 26] and references (we refer the reader to the introduction of [24] for a complete list and description). Summarizing, it was proved that the optimal sets (namely $\{u > 0\}$ and $\{u < 0\}$) are regular up to a singular one-phase set, which is small, but there could also be branching points which were not completely understood until recently. Finally (following by the work [46] in the particular dimension 2) the work by De Philippis, Spolaor and Velichkov [24] led to a substantial advancement in the understanding of the problem; the authors were able also to classify the branching points (the key technical issue being a suitable *improvement of flatness* at those points). Let us stress that branching points do not appear in the ACF case when $\lambda_+ \neq \lambda_-$ and $\lambda_+ = \lambda_0$ or $\lambda_- = \lambda_0$, but actually are a key feature of the problem as soon as the zero phase exists. This difference is analogous to the difference between problem (1.2) (where the partition fully occupies the box) and (1.3) (where the partition does not fully cover the box and thus there is a zero phase).

1.2. **Strategy of the proof.** The proof of the main Theorem 1.1 is rather involved and requires several technical steps. Therefore, for the reader's sake, we summarize here the main ideas. We start with the information that

$$\min\left\{\lambda_1(\omega):\omega\subset\Omega\setminus\cup_{j\neq i}\overline{\omega}_j,\ |\omega|=a-\sum_{j\neq i}|\omega_j|\right\},\,$$

and so, at one-phase points, one can use the existing results in the literature. This is not however the case at two-phase points, whose study is the core of this work.

Having this in mind, first of all, in Section 2, we introduce a penalized version of problem (1.1) in order to get rid of the measure constraint in (1.1), inspired by what is done in [1] in the one-phase setting. We use a penalization with good upper and lower Lipschitz-type estimates (see Lemma 2.1 for

a precise statement), which also allows to avoid the positive part as in (1.4). This penalized problem can be naturally formulated in a free boundary environment, as it is equivalent to consider a partition or the vector of first eigenfunctions (suitably normalized) associated to each set of the partition. It is through this penalization that we are able to treat two-phase points; on the other hand, this penalization is not C^1 , which creates many difficulties and requires several new ideas. For this new problem without measure constraint, in this chapter we prove some of the basic results concerning existence of a solution (which in this case is at the same time both a partition and a vector of H^1 functions), the nondegeneracy and Lipschitz continuity of the optimal eigenfunctions and suitable density estimates. The techniques used here are essentially the nowadays standard strategies for proving these basic regularity results in free boundary problems, and we adapt them to our situation.

Then, in Section 3, using a three phase monotonicity formula, the nondegeneracy property and ideas from [12], we prove that optimal partitions in our setting do not admit neither triple nor higher multiplicity points (in the interior of the box), neither two-phase nor higher multiplicity points at the boundary of the box Ω .

Section 4 is aimed at proving the equivalence between the original problem and the penalized one (for a suitable choice of the parameter in the penalization), in the sense that there exists an optimal partition that is optimal for both problems. To do this, we first need to show the existence of a *one-phase* point in the reduced boundary of at least one set of the an optimal partition, which allows us to use shape variations to deduce an optimality condition, which is the key to show the desired equivalence as it was done in [1].

Then, in Section 5, we start a detailed study of two-phase points, precisely classifying *all* blowups centered there. To do this, we need to use ACF-type monotonicity formulas and techniques inspired from the works of Conti, Terracini and Verzini [21, 20]. We stress that, since the penalization is not C^1 , then blowup limits are *not* local minimizers of some functional, and this fact is the main difficulty of this part (and a key difference between our penalized problem and (1.3)).

Thanks to the analysis of blowups at two-phase points, we can use, in Section 6, the notion of viscosity solutions to interpret the optimality condition at all points of the free boundary of an optimal partition and then employ the improvement of flatness of [42] for the one-phase points and the one of [24] at two-phase points (including the branching points) to conclude the proof of our main result. We stress that we are not able to use from the beginning the approach of the viscosity solution on the penalized problem, once again because the penalization is not C^1 (and it does not seem possible to find a regular penalization with the good properties that we need).

Finally, in the appendix, we include some useful results and remarks, some basic facts about Geometric Measure Theory and quasi-open sets.

Remark 1.3. Let $a_1, \ldots, a_k > 0$ be such that $\sum_i a_i < |\Omega|$. We point out that the conclusions of Theorem 1.1 are also true for the optimal partition problem

$$\Lambda_{1,k}(a) = \inf\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{k} \lambda_1(\omega_i) : \begin{array}{c} \omega_i \subset \Omega \text{ are nonempty open sets for all } i = 1, \dots, k, \\ \omega_i \cap \omega_j = \emptyset \text{ for all } i \neq j \text{ and } |\omega_i| = a_i \text{ for all } i \end{array}\right\}, \quad (1.7)$$

Indeed, the only thing to adapt is the penalized functional, see Remark 2.2 below.

Notation. We denote the ball centered at $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and radius r > 0 by $B_r(x_0)$; whenever $x_0 = 0$, we simply write B_r . Given a measurable function $v : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, we denote its nodal set by $\Omega_v := \{v \neq 0\}$. For measurable sets $A_n, A \subset \Omega$, we say that $A_n \to A$ in $L^1(\Omega)$ if $\chi_{A_n} \to \chi_A$ in $L^1(\Omega)$, where χ denotes the characteristic function. The notation for $L^p(\Omega)$ norms is $\|\cdot\|_p$, for $p \in [1, \infty]$, while $\|u\|_{H^1_0(\Omega)}^2 := \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2$ is the standard H^1_0 -norm, where $|\cdot|$ denotes, as usual, the Euclidean norm. The N-dimensional Lebesgue measure of a measurable set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is denoted by |E|. The average of a function f over a set E is given by $\int_E f = \frac{1}{|E|} \int_E f$. The positive and negative parts of f are denoted, respectively, by $f_+ = \max\{f, 0\}$, $f_- = \max\{-f, 0\}$. We denote by ∂_{rel} the relative boundary of a set.

2. A penalized problem. Existence, nondegeneracy, Lipschitz continuity, finite perimeter, density estimates.

In this section, inspired by [1], we introduce a penalized function to treat the regularity of the free boundary for the solutions of (1.1). We proceed by establishing various properties pertinent to the solutions of this functional. We start with the following piecewise linear auxiliary function: for $\eta \in (0, 1]$, define

$$f_{\eta}(s) := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\eta}(s-a) & \text{if } s \ge a\\ \eta(s-a) & \text{if } s \le a. \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

Lemma 2.1. The function f_{η} satisfies the following properties.

- (1) $f_{\eta}(s) \ge -\eta a \text{ for every } s \ge 0,$
- (2) $\eta(s_2 s_1) \leq f_{\eta}(s_2) f_{\eta}(s_1) \leq \frac{1}{\eta}(s_2 s_1)$ whenever $0 \leq s_1 \leq s_2$.

The proof of this lemma is straightforward, and we omit it. Now, we work with the penalized functional

$$J_{\eta}(u_1,\ldots,u_k) := \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2}{\int_{\Omega} u_i^2} + f_{\eta}\left(\sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_i}|\right), \qquad (u_1\ldots,u_k) \in \overline{H},$$

where

$$\overline{H} := \left\{ (u_1, \dots, u_k) \in H^1_0(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^k) : \ u_i \neq 0 \text{ for every } i, \ u_i \cdot u_j \equiv 0 \text{ for } i \neq j \right\}.$$
(2.2)

We now focus our attention on the infimum:

$$c_{\eta} := \inf_{\overline{H}} J_{\eta}. \tag{2.3}$$

For future reference, observe that, by Lemma 2.1-(1),

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2}{\int_{\Omega} u_i^2} \le J_{\eta}(u_1, \dots, u_k) + a, \quad \text{for every } (u_1, \dots, u_k) \in \overline{H}, \ \eta \in (0, 1].$$
(2.4)

Remark 2.2. In order to deal with the related problem (1.7), the only necessary change is to consider the functions

$$f_{\eta,i}(s) := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\eta}(s-a_i) & \text{if } s \ge a_i \\ \eta(s-a_i) & \text{if } s \le a_i. \end{cases}$$

and then the penalized functional

$$J_{\eta}(u_{1},...,u_{k}) := \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2}}{\int_{\Omega} u_{i}^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} f_{\eta,i}(|\Omega_{u_{i}}|), \qquad (u_{1}...,u_{k}) \in \overline{H},$$

2.1. Uniform bounds, variational inequalities and regularity of minimizers.

Lemma 2.3. There exists $C = C(N, k, a, \Omega) > 0$ such that

 $\Lambda_{1,k}(|\Omega|) - a \le c_\eta \le C \quad \text{ for every } \eta \in (0,1],$

where we recall that $\Lambda_{1,k}(|\Omega|)$ coincides with the level (1.2).

Proof. Take x_1, \ldots, x_k and r > 0 sufficiently small such that:

$$B_r(x_i) \cap B_r(x_j) = \emptyset$$
 for all $i \neq j$, $\bigcup_{i=1}^k B_r(x_i) \subset \Omega$, and $\sum_{i=1}^k |B_r(x_i)| = kr^N |B_1| < a$.

Let v_i be a first eigenfunction associated with the set $B_r(x_i)$, extended by 0 in $\Omega \setminus B_r(x_i)$. Then

$$c_{\eta} \leq J_{\eta}(v_1, \dots, v_k) = \sum_{i=1}^k \lambda_1(B_r(x_i)) + \eta\left(\sum_{i=1}^k |B_r(x_i)| - a\right) < \sum_{i=1}^k \lambda_1(B_r(x_i)) =: C.$$

The lower bound, on the other hand, is a consequence of (2.4) and the fact that

$$\Lambda_{1,k}(|\Omega|) = \inf\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2}{\int_{\Omega} u_i^2} : (u_1, \dots, u_k) \in \overline{H}\right\}$$

(for this identity, see, for instance, the proof of Theorem 1.1 in [20]).

By using the previous result, we can prove the existence of minimizers of J_{η} over \overline{H} . This is the content of the next lemma.

Lemma 2.4. The level c_{η} is achieved, that is,

there exists
$$u_{\eta} = (u_{1,\eta}, \ldots, u_{k,\eta}) \in \overline{H}$$
 such that $J_{\eta}(u_{1,\eta}, \ldots, u_{k,\eta}) = c_{\eta}$.

Moreover, there exists a constant $C = C(N, k, a, \Omega) > 0$ such that

 $\|u_{\eta}\|_{H^{1}_{0}(\Omega)} \leq C, \qquad \text{for every } L^{2} - \text{normalized minimizer } u_{\eta} \text{ of } c_{\eta}, \text{ and } \eta \in (0,1].$ (2.5)

Proof. The existence of a minimizer is a straightforward consequence of the direct method of the Calculus of Variations. Indeed, Lemma 2.3 implies that $c_{\eta} > -\infty$. Take a minimizing sequence $(u_{1,n}, \ldots, u_{k,n}) \in \overline{H}$ such that

$$J_{\eta}(u_{1,n},\ldots,u_{k,n}) \to c_{\eta}, \qquad \int_{\Omega} u_{i,n}^2 = 1 \text{ for every } i$$

Then, by (2.4) and Lemma 2.3,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i,n}|^2 \le J_{\eta}(u_{1,n}, \dots, u_{k,n}) + a \le c_{\eta} + 1 + a \le C + 1 + a$$
(2.6)

for sufficiently large n. In particular, for each i, the sequence $(u_{i,n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is uniformly bounded in $H_0^1(\Omega)$, and then there exists $u_i \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that, up to a subsequence, as $n \to \infty$,

 $u_{i,n} \to u_i$ weakly in $H_0^1(\Omega)$, strongly in $L^2(\Omega)$, and pointwise a.e. in Ω .

In particular,

$$\int_{\Omega} u_i^2 = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad u_i \cdot u_j \equiv 0 \text{ a.e. in } \Omega,$$
(2.7)

so that, in particular, $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$. Moreover,

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 \le \liminf_n \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i,n}|^2$$

and, since $\chi_{u_i} \leq \liminf_n \chi_{u_{i,n}}$ a.e. in Ω , by Fatou's lemma

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_i}| \le \liminf_n \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,n}}|.$$

In conclusion, since f_{η} is a continuous and increasing function:

$$c_{\eta} \leq J_{\eta}(u_1,\ldots,u_n) \leq \liminf_n J_{\eta}(u_{1,n},\ldots,u_{k,n}) = c_{\eta},$$

and c_{η} is achieved by (u_1, \ldots, u_n) .

The uniform bounds in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ norm are a consequence of (2.4), which implies

$$\sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 \le J_\eta(u_1, \dots, u_k) + a = c_\eta + a \le C + a.$$

Now, we are ready to prove some regularity results for the minimizers of J_{η} . We start by showing, in particular, the L^{∞} boundedness of the solutions.

Lemma 2.5. Let $\eta \in (0,1]$ and let $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ be a nonnegative L^2 -normalized minimizer of J_{η} , attaining the level c_{η} . Then

$$-\Delta u_i = \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i})u_i \text{ in } \Omega_{u_i} \quad and \quad -\Delta u_i \le \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i})u_i \text{ in } \Omega.$$

As a consequence, there exists a constant $C = C(N, k, a, \Omega) > 0$ (in particular, independent of η) such that

$$\|u_i\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le C.$$

Proof. Let us note that $\Omega_{u_i} = \{u_i > 0\}$ is a quasi-open set (see Section A.2). For all nonzero $v \in H_0^1(\Omega_{u_i})$, testing the minimality of (u_1, \ldots, u_k) for J_η with $(u_1, \ldots, u_{i-1}, v, u_{i+1}, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ and noting that $\{v > 0\} \subseteq \{u_i > 0\}$ and f_η is increasing shows immediately that u_i is the first Dirichlet eigenfunction on Ω_{u_i} .

Let $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ be a nonnegative function and, for t > 0 small and $i = 1, \ldots, k$, consider the perturbation

$$(u_1,\ldots,u_{i-1},(u_i-t\varphi)^+,u_{i+1},\ldots,u_k)\in\overline{H}.$$

Observe that $\Omega_{(u_i-t\varphi)^+} \subseteq \Omega_{u_i}$, thus we have $|\Omega_{(u_i-t\varphi)^+}| \leq |\Omega_{u_i}|$. Since (u_1,\ldots,u_k) is a minimizer of $J_{\eta}|_{\overline{H}}$, we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{j}|^{2} + f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{j}}| \right) \leq \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{j}|^{2} + \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(u_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{j}}| + |\Omega_{(u_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}}| \right),$$

which implies, by Lemma A.1 and the fact that $||u_i||_2 = 1$,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 + f_\eta \left(\sum_{j=1}^k |\Omega_{u_j}| \right) - f_\eta \left(\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^k |\Omega_{u_j}| + |\Omega_{(u_i-t\varphi)^+}| \right) &\leq \int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u_i - t\varphi)|^2 \left(1 + 2t \int_{\Omega} u_i\varphi + o(t) \right) \\ &= \left(\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 - 2t \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_i \cdot \nabla \varphi + o(t) \right) \left(1 + 2t \int_{\Omega} u_i\varphi + o(t) \right) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 + 2t \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 \int_{\Omega} u_i\varphi - 2t \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_i \cdot \nabla \varphi + o(t), \end{split}$$

as $t \to 0^+$. Hence, by using the monotonicity of f_η , we obtain

$$0 \le f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_j}| \right) - f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{\substack{j=1\\ j \ne i}}^{k} |\Omega_{u_j}| + |\Omega_{(u_i - t\varphi)^+}| \right) \le -2t \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_i \cdot \nabla \varphi + 2t \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 \int_{\Omega} u_i \varphi + o(t).$$

By dividing the inequality above by t > 0, and passing to the limit as $t \to 0^+$, we conclude that

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u_i \cdot \nabla \varphi \leq \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 \int_{\Omega} u_i \varphi, \quad \text{i.e.,} \quad -\Delta u_i \leq \lambda_{u_i} u_i \quad \text{in } \Omega.$$

Finally, the uniform L^{∞} -bounds are now a consequence of (2.5) and of a standard Brezis-Kato type argument (or, alternatively, a consequence of the result for eigenfunctions by Davies [23, Example 2.1.8])

Following some ideas from [6], we proceed with some qualitative properties for minimizers, which shall lead to their Lipschitz regularity (see Theorem 2.7 and Corollary 2.8 below). This proof uses some perturbations which will also be employed later on in the classification result for blowups at two-phase points (Theorem 5.1), in particular in the proof of Lemma 5.11.

Proposition 2.6. Let $\eta \in (0,1]$ and let $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ be an L^2 -normalized minimizer of J_η achieving c_η . Define

$$\hat{u}_i = u_i - \sum_{j \neq i} u_j$$
 and $\lambda_{u_i} := \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2$ for $i = 1, \dots, k$

(1) For each i = 1, ..., k, $x_0 \in \Omega$, r > 0, and for any nonnegative function $\varphi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi) \subseteq B_{2r}(x_0) \subseteq \Omega$, we have

$$\left\langle -\Delta \hat{u}_{i} - \lambda_{u_{i}} u_{i} + \sum_{j \neq i} \lambda_{u_{j}} u_{j}, \varphi \right\rangle \geq -C \left(r^{N-1} + \|\varphi\|_{1} + r\|\varphi\|_{2}^{2} + r\|\nabla\varphi\|_{2}^{2} + r\|\varphi\|_{1}\|\nabla\varphi\|_{2}^{2} + r\|\varphi\|_{2}^{2}\|\nabla\varphi\|_{2}^{2} \right)$$

$$(2.8)$$

where $C = C(N, k, a, \Omega, \eta)$.

(2) If B is a ball contained in the domain Ω and $|B \cap \{u_j = 0\}| = 0$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, k$, then

$$-\Delta \hat{u}_i - \lambda_{u_i} u_i + \sum_{j \neq i} \lambda_{u_j} u_j \ge 0 \quad in B, \qquad for \ all \ i = 1, \dots, k$$

Proof. Without loss of generality, we prove the claims for i = 1.

(1) Consider the perturbation

$$u_{t} = (u_{1,t}, \dots, u_{k,t}) := \left((\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}, (\hat{u}_{2} - t\varphi)^{+}, \dots, (\hat{u}_{k} - t\varphi)^{+} \right),$$
(2.9)

with $t \in (0, 1)$ sufficiently small. It is straightforward to check (see [6, Lemma A.3] for the details) that

$$u_t \in \overline{H}, \qquad \Omega_{u_{1,t}} \subseteq \Omega_{u_1} \cup \Omega_{\varphi}, \qquad \Omega_{u_{j,t}} \subseteq \Omega_{u_j} \text{ for } j > 1$$

By using the minimality of $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_k)$, we have $J_{\eta}(u) \leq J_{\eta}(u_t)$, that is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} + f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}}| \right) \leq \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + f_{\eta} \left(|\Omega_{u_{1,t}}| + \sum_{i=2}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,t}}| \right).$$
Hence, since f_{τ} is an increasing function and $|\Omega_{u_{1,t}}| + \sum_{i=2}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,t}}| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{$

Hence, since f_{η} is an increasing function and $|\Omega_{u_{1,t}}| + \sum_{i=2}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,t}}| \le \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_i}| + |\Omega_{\varphi}|$, we estimate

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} &\leq \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} \\ &+ f_{\eta} \left(|\Omega_{u_{1,t}}| + \sum_{i=2}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,t}}| \right) - f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}}| \right) \\ &\leq \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} \\ &+ f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}}| + |\Omega_{\varphi}| \right) - f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}}| \right) \end{split}$$

Using Lemma 2.1-(2) to estimate the right hand side, we obtain

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} \leq \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\eta} |\Omega_{\varphi}|.$$

This inequality corresponds precisely to [6, eq. (3.4)], with the constant μ therein being replaced by $1/\eta$ in our case. From here, we can repeat word by word the proof of [6, Proposition 3.2] to complete the proof of (1).

(2) This proof is adapted from [6, Proposition 3.4] to our situation. By taking $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(B)$ and considering once again the deformation (2.9), we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,t}}| = \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,t}} \cap B| + \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,t}} \cap (\Omega \setminus B)| \le |B| + \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}} \cap (\Omega \setminus B)|$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}} \cap B| + \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}} \cap (\Omega \setminus B)| = \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}}|.$$

Then, by minimality, $J_{\eta}(u_t) \ge J_{\eta}(u)$, which implies, using Lemma A.1 and since f_{η} is increasing,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} &\leq \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,t}}|\right) - f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}}|\right) \\ &\leq \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} \\ &\leq \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}|^{2} \left(1 - 2t \int_{\Omega} u_{i}\varphi + o(t)\right) + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}|^{2} \left(1 + 2t \int_{\Omega} u_{i}\varphi + o(t)\right) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \left(|\nabla(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}|^{2} + \sum_{j=2}^{k} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}|^{2} \right) - 2t \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi)^{+}|^{2} \int_{\Omega} u_{1}\varphi \\ &+ 2t \sum_{i=2}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi)^{+}|^{2} \int_{\Omega} u_{i}\varphi + o(t). \end{split}$$

Now, combining this with

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(|\nabla(\hat{u}_1 + t\varphi)^+|^2 + \sum_{j=2}^k |\nabla(\hat{u}_i - t\varphi)^+|^2 \right) = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_1 + t\varphi)|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 + 2t \int_{\Omega} \nabla \hat{u}_1 \cdot \nabla \varphi + o(t),$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_1 + t\varphi)^+|^2 = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_1|^2 + o(1) = \lambda_{u_1} + o(1), \quad \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_i - t\varphi)^+|^2 = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 + o(1) = \lambda_{u_i} + o(1)$$
as $t \to 0^+$, we conclude

$$0 \le 2t \int_{\Omega} \nabla \hat{u}_1 \cdot \nabla \varphi - 2t \lambda_{u_1} \int_{\Omega} u_1 \varphi + 2t \sum_{i=2}^k \lambda_{u_i} \int_{\Omega} u_i \varphi + o(t).$$

Dividing the above inequality by t > 0 and letting $t \to 0^+$ entails the result.

The following is a general criterion to guarantee that a k-uple of functions is Lipschitz continuous.

Theorem 2.7. Consider $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in H^1_0(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^k)$ such that, for each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, u_i is a nonnegative L^2 -normalized function satisfying

- (1) $-\Delta u_i = \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i})u_i$ in Ω_{u_i} and $-\Delta u_i \le \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i})u_i$ in Ω .
- (2) Whenever we take $x_0 \in \Omega$, r > 0 and any nonnegative function $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, such that $supp(\varphi) \Subset$ $B_{2r}(x_0) \Subset \Omega$, and $0 \le \varphi \le 1$, we have

$$\left\langle -\Delta \hat{u}_i - \lambda_{u_i} u_i + \sum_{j \neq i} \lambda_{u_j} u_j, \varphi \right\rangle \ge -C(r^{N-1} + r \|\nabla \varphi\|_2^2),$$
(2.10)

where C depends only on $||u_1||_{H_0^1(\Omega)}, \ldots, ||u_k||_{H_0^1(\Omega)}, ||u_1||_{\infty}, \ldots, ||u_k||_{\infty}$ and N.

(3) If $B \subset \Omega$ is a ball such that $|B \cap \{u_j = 0\}| = 0$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, k$, then

$$-\Delta \hat{u}_i - \lambda_{u_i} u_i + \sum_{j \neq i} \lambda_{u_j} u_j \ge 0 \text{ in } B, \quad \text{for all } i = 1, \dots, k.$$

Then u_i is locally Lipschitz continuous in Ω for each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, and for all $\Omega' \subseteq \Omega$ there exists C > 0, that depends on $N, ||u_1||_{H^1_0(\Omega)}, \ldots, ||u_k||_{H^1_0(\Omega)}, ||u_1||_{\infty}, \ldots, ||u_k||_{\infty}$ and $dist(\Omega', \Omega)$, such that

$$\sup_{x \neq y \in \Omega'} \frac{|u_i(x) - u_i(y)|}{|x - y|} \le C.$$

Proof. The proof follows the same ideas as in [6], in fact, these properties are all it takes to prove Lipschitz continuity just like in [6, Theorem 1.2]. Let us be more precise.

- Property (1) corresponds to [6, Proposition 3.1], (3) to [6, Proposition 3.4]. On the other hand, (2) is more general than (2.8) (which corresponds to [6, Proposition 3.2]).
- We now perform a simple scaling of (2.10). Consider $R > 0, x_0 \in \Omega$ and a sequence $(r_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $B_{r_n R}(x_0) \Subset \Omega$. For each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, define

$$u_{i,n}(x) = u_i \left(x_0 + r_n x \right)$$

Then, given a nonnegative $\varphi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ with $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi) \subseteq B_R$, we have

$$\left\langle -\Delta \hat{u}_{i,n} - r_n^2 \lambda_{\bar{u}_i} \bar{u}_{i,n} + r_n^2 \sum_{j \neq i} \lambda_{\bar{u}_j} \bar{u}_{j,n}, \varphi \right\rangle \ge -Cr_n R \left(R^{N-2} + \|\nabla \varphi\|_2^2 \right).$$
(2.11)

This plays the role of [6, Proposition 3.3] under the more general assumption (2.10).

• From this, we can prove the continuity of minimizers (u_1, \ldots, u_k) repeating almost word by word the proof of [6, Proposition 3.8]. Indeed, let $x_0 \in \bigcap_j \{u_j = 0\}$; one takes $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \Omega$ such that $x_n \to x_0$, sets $r_n := |x_0 - x_n| \to 0$ and aims to prove that $u_{i,n}(x) = u_i(x_0 + r_n x) \to 0 = u_i(x_0)$. Property (3) is used in [6] to prove this claim under the condition $|B_{r_n}(x_0) \cap \{u_i = 0\}| = 0$ for every j. In the complementary situation, one uses Property (1) and (2.11) to show that the limit of the scaling $u_{i,n}$ is superharmonic, and then uses (2.10) for test functions satisfying $\|\nabla \varphi\|_{\infty} \leq C_1/r$ (C_1 does not depend on r) which implies

$$\left\langle -\Delta \hat{u}_i - \lambda_{u_i} u_i + \sum_{\substack{j \neq i \\ 10}} \lambda_{u_j} u_j, \varphi \right\rangle \ge -Cr^{N-1}$$

with this new constant C also depending on C_1 . These are the necessary ingredients for the proof of [6, Proposition 3.8] to work.

• To prove the Lipschitz continuity of each u_i , it is enough to consider $\Sigma : \overline{\Omega} \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as

$$\Sigma(x,r) := \frac{1}{r^N} \int_{B_r(x)} |\nabla U|^2, \quad \text{for} \quad (x,r) \in \bar{\Omega} \times (0,\infty).$$

and show that Σ is bounded over $\Omega' \times (0, \infty)$, for every Ω' compactly contained in Ω . This is proved by a contradiction argument; with the continuity of each u_i and the properties previously recalled, we can now follow word by word the arguments from [6, Section 4].

Corollary 2.8. Let (u_1, \ldots, u_k) be a minimizer for the functional J_{η} . Then each u_i is locally Lipschitz continuous in Ω .

Proof. From Lemma 2.5 and Proposition 2.6, the minimizers of J_{η} satisfy the conditions of Theorem 2.7, hence we have in particular that any minimizer of the functional J_{η} is locally Lipschitz continuous.

Next, we show that the nodal sets of a vector $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ that achieves (2.3) have measure smaller than or equal to the constraint a of the original problem, so that $f_\eta\left(\sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_i}|\right) = \eta \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_i}|$.

Lemma 2.9 (Optimal partitions have measure smaller than or equal to *a*). There exists $\bar{\eta} = \bar{\eta}(N, k, a, \Omega) \in (0, 1]$ such that, given $\eta \in (0, \bar{\eta})$ and $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ a nonnegative L^2 -normalized minimizer achieving c_{η} , then it holds

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_i}| \le a$$

Proof. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that $\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_i}| > a$ for some L^2 -normalized minimizer (u_1, \ldots, u_k) , and consider the perturbation

$$(u_1^t, \dots, u_k^t) := ((u_1 - t)^+, \dots, (u_k - t)^+),$$

for t > 0 small. Since $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$, it is clear that also $(u_1^t, \ldots, u_k^t) \in \overline{H}$ for t > 0. Moreover, for t sufficiently small, we have $\sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_i^t}| > a$.

Since (u_1, \ldots, u_k) is a minimizer of J_η on \overline{H} , we have

$$J_{\eta}(u_1,\ldots,u_k) \leq J_{\eta}(u_1^t,\ldots,u_k^t).$$

Hence,

$$\sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 + f_\eta \left(\sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_i}| \right) \le \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u_i - t)^+|^2}{\int_{\Omega} |(u_i - t)^+|^2} + f_\eta \left(\sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_i^t}| \right),$$

and, by using the definition of f_{η} and the contradiction assumption,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} + \frac{1}{\eta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}}| - a \right) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u_{i} - t)^{+}|^{2}}{\int_{\Omega} |(u_{i} - t)^{+}|^{2}} + \frac{1}{\eta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}^{t}}| - a \right).$$

From this, we can follow the proof of [6, Proposition 2.3] (where, instead of $\frac{1}{n}$, one has μ), and conclude

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\eta}} \le \frac{2^{(k-1)/2} c_{\eta}}{N|B_1|^{1/N}} \left(\sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_i}|\right)^{\frac{2-N}{2N}} \le \frac{2^{(k-1)/2} C}{N|B_1|^{1/N}} a^{\frac{2-N}{2N}},$$

where C is the constant of the upper bound for c_{η} from Lemma 2.3. We have found a contradiction up to take η sufficiently small, so the claim is proved.

We conclude with the following observation.

Remark 2.10. Let $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ be an L^2 -normalized minimizer for J_η , attaining c_η . Then each Ω_{u_i} is connected (by minimality and from the fact that all sets are open). Moreover, for each $i = 1, \ldots, k$, defining

$$D_i := \Omega \setminus \bigcup_{\substack{j \neq i}} \overline{\Omega}_{u_j}.$$

the function u_i is a solution to the (one-component) minimization problem

$$\min\left\{\frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|^2}{\int_{\Omega} v^2} + f_\eta\left(\left|\cup_{j\neq i} \Omega_{u_j} \cup \Omega_v\right|\right) : v \in H^1_0(D_i) \setminus \{0\}\right\}.$$
(2.12)

Observe that

$$f_{\eta}\Big(|\cup_{j\neq i}\Omega_{u_j}\cup\Omega_v|\Big)=g_{\eta}(|\Omega_v|),$$

where

$$g_{\eta}(s) = \begin{cases} \eta(s+|\cup_{j\neq i} \Omega_j|-a) & \text{if } s \ge a-|\cup_{j\neq i} \Omega_j| \\ \frac{1}{\eta}(s+|\cup_{j\neq i} \Omega_j|-a) & \text{if } s \le a-|\cup_{j\neq i} \Omega_j|, \end{cases}$$

and we note that g_{η} satisfies the same properties of f_{η} , see Lemma 2.1. Then (2.12) is equivalent to

$$\min\left\{\frac{\int_{D_i} |\nabla v|^2}{\int_{D_i} v^2} + g_\eta(|\Omega_v|) : v \in H_0^1(D_i)\right\}.$$
(2.13)

Summarizing, u_i is a minimizer for (2.13), and the interior one-phase points of $\partial \{u_i > 0\}$ for problem (2.3) are the interior (one-phase) free boundary points when looking at u_i as a minimizer of (2.13). Therefore, the interior one-phase points of $\partial \{u_i > 0\}$ can be treated with tools from the regularity theory for one-phase free boundaries [1, 3, 10, 42, 51].

2.2. Nondegeneracy of eigenfunctions and density estimate from below. In this subsection, we establish more qualitative properties for the minimizers (u_1, \ldots, u_k) of J_n in \overline{H} , i.e., elements in \overline{H} that achieve c_{η} . We prove a nondegeneracy condition which implies, in particular, the fact that Ω_{u_i} has the finite perimeter. We begin with an estimate from below, which was first proposed in [3] for the harmonic case.

Lemma 2.11. Given $\eta \in (0,1]$, let (u_1,\ldots,u_k) be an L^2 -normalized minimizer for the problem c_η . For every $\theta \in (0,1)$, there are positive constants K_0, ρ_0 depending only on θ , N, k, a, Ω and η , such that the following assertion holds: if $\rho \leq \rho_0$ and $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$, then for all $i = 1, \ldots, k$ we have

$$\int_{\partial B_{\rho}(x_0)\cap\Omega} u_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} \le K_0 \rho \implies u_i \equiv 0 \ in \ B_{\theta\rho}(x_0)\cap\Omega.$$
(2.14)

Proof. Without loss of generality, we fix $x_0 = 0$; we also consider u_i to be defined in the whole \mathbb{R}^N , being extended to 0 in the complementary of Ω .

Step 1. (building a competitor) By Lemmas 2.4 and 2.5, there exist universal constants γ , M (depending only on N, k, a, Ω) such that

 $-\Delta u_i \leq \gamma$ in \mathbb{R}^N in the distributional sense, $\|u_i\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leq \gamma$, $\|u_i\|_{H^1_0(\Omega)}^2 \leq M$ (2.15)for every $i = 1, \ldots, k$. Then, the function

$$x \mapsto u_i(x) + \gamma \frac{|x|^2 - \rho^2}{2N}$$

is subharmonic in B_{ρ} .

By Lemma A.3 and using the assumption in (2.14), for every $\theta \in (0,1)$ there exists $c = c(\theta, N)$ such that

$$\delta_{\rho} := \sup_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho\cap\Omega}} u_i \leq \sup_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} (u_i + \gamma \frac{|x|^2 - \rho^2}{2N}) + \gamma \frac{\rho^2 (1 - \theta)}{2N}$$
$$\leq c \left(\int_{\partial B_{\rho}\cap\Omega} u_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} + \gamma \rho^2 \right) \leq c (K_0 \rho + \gamma \rho^2). \tag{2.16}$$

Let us consider the nonnegative solution w of

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta w = M\gamma, & \text{in } B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}, \\ w = \delta_{\rho}, & \text{on } \partial B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}, \\ w = 0, & \text{on } B_{\theta\rho}. \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

Observe that the function w is explicit in the annulus $B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}$:

$$w(x) = \frac{M\gamma}{2N}((\theta\rho)^2 - |x|^2) + \left(\delta_\rho + \frac{M\gamma((\sqrt{\theta}\rho)^2 - (\theta\rho)^2)}{2N}\right) \frac{(\theta^{3/2}\rho^2)^{N-2}}{(\sqrt{\theta}\rho)^{N-2} - (\theta\rho)^{N-2}} \left(\frac{1}{(\theta\rho)^{N-2}} - \frac{1}{|x|^{N-2}}\right),$$

if $N \geq 3$, while

$$w(x) = \frac{\gamma}{2N} ((\theta\rho)^2 - |x|^2) + \frac{\delta_\rho + \frac{\gamma}{2N} ((\sqrt{\theta}\rho)^2 - (\theta\rho)^2)}{\log(1/\sqrt{\theta})} (\log|x| - \log(\theta\rho))$$

if N = 2. By definition, $w \ge u_i$ on $\partial B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}$, therefore the function

$$v := \begin{cases} u_i, & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}, \\ \min\{u_i, w\}, & \text{ in } B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}, \end{cases}$$

satisfies v = w = 0 in $B_{\theta\rho}$, $v = u_i = 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \Omega$ and observe that

$$v \leq u_i, \qquad \Omega_v \subset \Omega_{u_i}, \qquad \Omega_v \setminus B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} = \Omega_{u_i} \setminus B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}.$$

Step 2. (Comparing energies) Since $v \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ and from the properties listed above, observe that $(u_1, \ldots, u_{i-1}, v|_{\Omega}, u_{i+1}, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$, which we can test against the minimality of (u_1, \ldots, u_k) . At the level of the corresponding nodal sets, this can be thought as an inner variation of the optimizer, giving

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 + f_{\eta}(\sum_j |\Omega_{u_j}|) \le \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|^2}{\int_{\Omega} v^2} + f_{\eta}(\sum_{j \neq i} |\Omega_{u_j}| + |\Omega_v|)$$
(2.18)

or, equivalently,

$$\int_{\Omega} v^2 \left[\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 + f_\eta(\sum_j |\Omega_{u_j}|) - f_\eta(\sum_{j \neq i} |\Omega_{u_j}| + |\Omega_v|) \right] \le \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|^2.$$
(2.19)

As v = 0 in $B_{\theta\rho}$, using also the Lipschitz-like property Lemma 2.1-(2) of f_{η} , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \eta |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| &= \eta |(\Omega_{u_i} \setminus \Omega_v) \cap B_{\theta\rho}| \le \eta |(\Omega_{u_i} \setminus \Omega_v) \cap B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}| = \eta \left(|\Omega_{u_i}| - |\Omega_v| \right) \\ &\le f_\eta (\sum_j |\Omega_{u_j}|) - f_\eta (\sum_{j \ne i} |\Omega_{u_j}| + |\Omega_v|). \end{split}$$

On the other hand, notice that, since $v = u_i$ in $\Omega \setminus B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}$ and $v = u_i = 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \Omega$,

$$\int_{\Omega} v^2 = \int_{\Omega} u_i^2 + \int_{\Omega} (v^2 - u_i^2) = 1 - \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \cap \Omega} (u_i^2 - v^2) = 1 - \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} (u$$

Putting the information above together into (2.19), we have

$$\left(1 - \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} (u_i^2 - v^2)\right) \left(\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \eta |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}|\right) \le \int_{\Omega} |\nabla v|^2.$$

Moreover, since v = 0 in $B_{\theta\rho}$,

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \eta \left(1 - \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} (u_i^2 - v^2) \right) |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| &\leq \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} |\nabla v|^2 + \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} (u_i^2 - v^2) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 \\ &= \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla v|^2 + \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} (u_i^2 - v^2) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2. \end{split}$$

Clearly, by (2.15) and by taking ρ_0 sufficiently small,

$$0 \le \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} (u_i^2 - v^2) \le ||u_i||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^2 |B_{\rho_0}| \le \gamma^2 \rho_0^N |B_1| \le \frac{1}{2}.$$

Recalling also the definition of M > 0 from (2.15),

Thanks to the inequalities above, we infer

$$\int_{B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \frac{\eta}{2} |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| = \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \frac{\eta}{2} |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| - \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \\
\leq \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}} (|\nabla v|^2 - |\nabla u_i|^2) + M \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} (u_i^2 - v^2). \quad (2.20)$$

Step 3. (estimating the right-hand-side of (2.20)) Now we estimate both terms of the right-hand-side of (2.20). From the definition of v, we obtain

$$\int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}} (|\nabla v|^2 - |\nabla u_i|^2) = \int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}) \cap \{u_i \le w\}} (|\nabla u_i|^2 - |\nabla u_i|^2) + \int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}) \cap \{u_i > w\}} (|\nabla w|^2 - |\nabla u_i|^2) \\
= \int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}) \cap \{u_i > w\}} (|\nabla w|^2 - |\nabla u_i|^2) \\
\leq 2 \int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}) \cap \{u_i > w\}} (|\nabla w|^2 - \nabla u_i \cdot \nabla w).$$
(2.21)

Moreover, since $0 \le u_i + w \le 2 \|u_i\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le 2\gamma$ in $(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}) \cap \{u_i > w\}$,

$$\int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} (u_i^2 - v^2) = \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}} (u_i^2 - v^2) + \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} (u_i^2 - v^2) = \int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}) \cap \{u_i > w\}} (u_i^2 - w^2) + \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} u_i^2 \\
\leq 2\gamma \int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}) \cap \{u_i > w\}} (u_i - w) + \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} u_i^2.$$
(2.22)

By combining (2.21) and (2.22) with (2.20), we conclude that

$$\int_{B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \frac{\eta}{2} |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| \leq 2 \int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}) \cap \{u_i > w\}} (|\nabla w|^2 - \nabla u_i \cdot \nabla w) \\
+ 2M\gamma \int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}) \cap \{u_i > w\}} (u_i - w) + M \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} u_i^2.$$
(2.23)

On the other hand, testing (2.17) with $(u_i - w)_+$ and integrating over $B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho} \setminus B_{\theta\rho}$, we obtain

$$\int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}\setminus B_{\theta\rho}} \nabla w \cdot \nabla (u_i - w)_+ + \int_{\partial B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}} \frac{\partial w}{\partial \nu} (u_i - w)_+ d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} - \int_{\partial B_{\theta\rho}} \frac{\partial w}{\partial \nu} (u_i - w)_+ d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} = M\gamma \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}\setminus B_{\theta\rho}} (u_i - w)_+ d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} = M\gamma \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}\setminus B_{\rho\rho}} (u_i - w)_+ d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} = M\gamma \int_{B_{\sqrt{\theta}}\setminus B_{\rho\rho}} (u_i - w)_+ d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} = M\gamma \int_{B_{$$

where ν stands for the inner unit normal with respect to $B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}$ and $B_{\theta\rho}$, respectively. After multiplying this identity by a factor 2, and since $u_i \leq \delta_{\rho} = w$ on $\partial B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}$ and w = 0 on $\partial B_{\theta\rho}$, we have

$$2\int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}\setminus B_{\theta\rho})\cap\{u_i>w\}} (|\nabla w|^2 - \nabla u_i \cdot \nabla w) + 2M\gamma \int_{(B_{\sqrt{\theta}\rho}\setminus B_{\theta\rho})\cap\{u_i>w\}} (u_i - w) = -2\int_{\partial B_{\theta\rho}} \frac{\partial w}{\partial\nu} u_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1},$$
(2.24)

where, in the last integral, ν denotes the inner unit normal to $B_{\theta\rho}$.

Recalling the explicit expression of the torsion function on an annulus (see also [8, Equations (4.22)-(4.23)]), with a direct computation one obtains, for $x \in \partial B_{\theta\rho}$,

$$\left|\frac{\partial w}{\partial \nu}(x)\right| = |w'(\theta\rho)| \le \begin{cases} \frac{M\gamma\theta\rho}{N} + \frac{(2N\delta_{\rho} + M\gamma\theta\rho^2)(N-2)\theta^{\frac{N-4}{2}}}{2N\rho(\theta^{\frac{N-2}{2}} - \theta^{N-2})} & \text{if } N \ge 3, \\ \frac{\gamma\theta\rho}{N} + \frac{2N\delta_{\rho} + \gamma\theta\rho^2}{2N\log(1/\sqrt{\theta})\rho} & \text{if } N \ge 2. \end{cases}$$

In either case, recalling that γ and M are universal constants, there exists $\beta = \beta(N, \theta)$ such that

$$2\left|\frac{\partial w}{\partial \nu}\right| \le \beta \frac{\delta_{\rho} + \rho^2}{\rho} \qquad \text{on } \partial B_{\theta\rho}.$$
(2.25)

We can now combine (2.23), (2.24) and (2.25) to obtain

$$\int_{B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \frac{\eta}{2} |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| \le \beta \frac{\delta_\rho + \rho^2}{\rho} \int_{\partial B_{\theta\rho}} u_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} + M \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} u_i^2. \tag{2.26}$$

By definition of δ_p , we have the estimate

$$M \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} u_i^2 = M \int_{B_{\theta\rho} \cap \Omega_{u_i}} u_i^2 \le M \delta_{\rho}^2 |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}|.$$
(2.27)

Moreover, using the definition of δ_{ρ} , the trace inequality in $W^{1,1}$ and the Young inequality we obtain,

$$\int_{\partial B_{\theta\rho}} u_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} \le \alpha(N,\theta) \left(\frac{1}{\rho} \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} u_i + \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i| \right)$$

$$\leq \alpha(N,\theta) \left(\frac{1}{\rho} \int_{B_{\theta\rho} \cap \{u_i > 0\}} u_i + \int_{B_{\theta\rho} \cap \{u_i > 0\}} \left(\frac{|\nabla u_i|^2}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \right)$$

$$\leq \alpha(N,\theta) \left(\left(\frac{\delta_{\rho}}{\rho} + \frac{1}{2} \right) |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| + \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \right), \qquad (2.28)$$

for some $\alpha = \alpha(N, \theta) > 0$. By using (2.27) and (2.28) in (2.26), and recalling again (2.16), we have, for all $\rho \leq \rho_0$

$$\begin{split} &\int_{B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \frac{\eta}{2} |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| \\ &\leq \beta \frac{\delta_{\rho} + \rho^2}{\rho} \int_{\partial B_{\theta\rho}} u_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} + \delta_{\rho}^2 M |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| \\ &\leq \beta (c(K_0 + \gamma \rho) + \rho) \int_{\partial B_{\theta\rho}} u_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} + c^2 (K_0 \rho + \gamma \rho^2)^2 M |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| \\ &\leq \beta \alpha (c(K_0 + \gamma \rho) + \rho) \left[\left(\frac{\delta_{\rho}}{\rho} + \frac{1}{2} \right) |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| + \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \right] \\ &\quad + c^2 (K_0 \rho + \gamma \rho^2)^2 M |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| \\ &\leq \beta \alpha (c(K_0 + \gamma \rho) + \rho) \left[\left(c(K_0 + \gamma \rho) + \frac{1}{2} \right) |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| + \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \right] \\ &\quad + c^2 (K_0 \rho + \gamma \rho^2)^2 M |\{u_i > 0\} \cap B_{\theta\rho}| \\ &\leq \frac{\beta \alpha}{2} (c(K_0 + \gamma \rho_0) + \rho_0) \int_{B_{\theta\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \\ &\quad + \left(\beta \alpha (c(K_0 + \gamma \rho_0 + \rho_0)) (c(K_0 + \gamma \rho_0) + \frac{1}{2}) + c^2 (K_0 \rho_0 + \gamma \rho_0^2)^2 M \right) |\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\theta\rho}|. \end{split}$$

Then, by choosing K_0, ρ_0 sufficiently small (and depending on η) so that

$$\frac{\beta\alpha}{2}(c(K_0+\gamma\rho_0)+\rho_0)<1, \quad \left(\beta\alpha(c(K_0+\gamma\rho_0+\rho_0))(c(K_0+\gamma\rho_0)+\frac{1}{2})+c^2(K_0\rho+\gamma\rho_0^2)^2M\right)<\frac{\eta}{2},$$

we conclude that $u_i\equiv 0$ in $B_{\theta\rho}$, for all $\rho\leq\rho_0$.

Remark 2.12. The results of Lemma 2.11 and, in particular, equation (2.14), can also be written in the following equivalent ways:

$$\int_{B_{\rho}(x_{0})\cap\Omega} u_{i} d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} \leq K_{0}\rho \implies u_{i} \equiv 0 \text{ in } B_{\theta\rho}(x_{0})\cap\Omega,$$

$$\sup_{B_{\rho}(x_{0})\cap\Omega} u_{i} \leq K_{0}\rho \implies u_{i} \equiv 0 \text{ in } B_{\theta\rho}(x_{0})\cap\Omega,$$
(2.29)

or

$$\sup_{B_{\rho}(x_0)\cap\Omega} u_i \le K_0 \rho \implies u_i \equiv 0 \text{ in } B_{\theta\rho}(x_0)\cap\Omega, \tag{2.29}$$

see for example [38, Remark 2.8]. They imply there is a universal constant C > 0 such that, if $x_0 \in \Omega_{u_i}$, $\sup_{B_{\rho}(x_0)\cap\Omega} u_i \geq C\rho$. Moreover, equation (2.14) can be also written in the following counterpositive way:

$$B_{\theta\rho}(x_0) \cap \Omega_{u_i} \neq \emptyset \implies \int_{B_{\rho}(x_0) \cap \Omega} u_i \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} \ge K_0 \rho.$$
(2.30)

An immediate and fundamental consequence of Lemma 2.11 and of the Lipschitz continuity of the minimizers (u_1, \ldots, u_k) of J_{η} on \overline{H} is the following two-sided density estimate on each Ω_{u_i} .

Lemma 2.13. Given $\eta \in (0,1]$, let (u_1,\ldots,u_k) be an L^2 -normalized minimizer for the problem c_η , and take ρ_0 and K_0 from Lemma 2.11. There exists $\rho_1 = \rho_1(N, k, a, \Omega, \eta) \in (0, \rho_0), \xi > 0$ (depending on N, k, a, Ω , on the Lipschitz constant of (u_1, \ldots, u_k) , and on K_0 - thus, in particular, on η) such that, for every $i = 1, \ldots, k$,

$$\xi \leq \frac{|\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho}(x_0)|}{|B_{\rho}|} \leq 1 - \xi \qquad \text{whenever } x_0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \Omega, \ \rho \leq \rho_1.$$
(2.31)

In particular,

$$\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\partial\Omega_{u_i} \setminus \partial^*\Omega_{u_i}) = 0.$$
¹⁵
^(2.32)

Proof. Step 1. Let us start from the bound from below in (2.31). The proof is very similar to the case of harmonic functions treated in [50, Lemma 5.1]. The nondegeneracy condition (2.29) from Remark 2.12 implies that

$$||u_i||_{L^{\infty}(B_{\rho/2}(x_0))} \ge K_0 \frac{\rho}{2}$$
 for every $\rho \le 2\rho_0$.

Thus, there is a point $y \in \overline{B}_{\rho/2}(x_0)$ such that $u_i(y) \geq K_0 \frac{\rho}{2}$. On the other hand, by letting L be a Lipschitz constant for u_i , then $u_i > 0$ in the ball $B_{\frac{\rho}{2}\min\{1, \frac{K_0}{L}\}}(y) \subset B_{\rho}(x_0)$. In conclusion,

$$\frac{|\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho}(x_0)|}{|B_{\rho}(x_0)|} \ge \frac{|B_{\frac{\rho}{2}\min\{1,\frac{K_0}{L}\}}(y)|}{|B_{\rho}(x_0)|} = \left(\frac{1}{2}\min\{1,\frac{K_0}{L}\}\right)^N := \xi$$

Step 2. Upper bound of (2.31) at one-phase points. This can be obtained as in [3], see also [50, Lemma 5.1], with a few modifications. We adapt these ideas to our situation, where the functions are not harmonic but, instead, are eigenfunctions (see also the related [51, Theorem 5.4]). Precisely, let $x_0 = 0 \in \left(\partial \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \bigcup_{j \neq i} \partial \Omega_{u_j}\right) \cap \Omega$ and consider the function h solution of

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta h = \gamma & \text{ in } B_{\rho}, \\ h = u_i & \text{ in } \Omega \setminus B_{\rho} \end{cases}$$

where γ is the constant of (2.15). As a consequence, we obtain that $-\Delta(h-u_i) \ge 0$ in B_{ρ} . In particular, we have that $u_i \leq h$ and $\{u_i > 0\} \subset \{h > 0\}$ in B_{ρ} . Moreover, since h is the torsion function multiplied by γ with boundary datum u_i , recalling that $u_i(0) = 0$ and that u_i is Lipschitz continuous with constant $L = L(N, k, a, \Omega, \eta)$, see Theorem 2.7, we deduce by a comparison argument that

$$\|h\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\rho})} \le C_h \rho, \tag{2.33}$$

with a constant $C_h = C_h(N, k, a, \Omega, \eta)$. Testing the optimality of (u_1, \ldots, u_k) with $(u_1, \ldots, u_{i-1}, h, u_{i+1}, \ldots, u_k)$, using also (2.1) and an integration by parts, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\eta} |B_{\rho} \cap \{u_i = 0\}| &\geq \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx - \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla h|^2 \, dx = \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla (u_i - h)|^2 \, dx + 2 \int_{B_{\rho}} \left(\nabla h \cdot \nabla (u_i - h) \right) dx \\ &= \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla (u_i - h)|^2 \, dx + 2 \int_{B_{\rho}} (-\Delta h)(u_i - h) \, dx + 2 \int_{\partial B_{\rho}} (u_i - h) \frac{\partial h}{\partial \nu} \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} \\ &= \int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla (u_i - h)|^2 \, dx - 2\gamma \int_{B_{\rho}} (h - u_i) \, dx. \end{split}$$

Let us first treat the terms not involving the gradient: using the bound L^{∞} on h and the positivity of u_i , we have

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} (h-u) \, dx \le \int_{B_{\rho}} h \, dx \le C_h \rho |B_{\rho}|. \tag{2.34}$$

Let us now focus on the gradient term. By the Poincaré and Cauchy-Schwarz inequalities, we have

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla(u_i - h)|^2 \, dx \ge \frac{C_d}{|B_{\rho}|} \left(\frac{1}{\rho} \int_{B_{\rho}} (h - u_i) \, dx\right)^2,$$

where C_d is a universal constant depending only on the dimension. Thus, in order to prove the upper bound in the claim, we first need to show that $\frac{1}{\rho|B_{\rho}|}\int_{B_{\rho}}(h-u_i)\,dx$ is bounded from below by a positive constant. Notice that, by the non-degeneracy of u_i (see Remark 2.12), we have

$$C\rho \leq \sup_{B_{\rho/2}} u_i \leq \sup_{B_{\rho/2}} h$$
,

for a constant $C = C(N, k, a, \Omega, \eta)$. On the other hand, since $h(x) + \gamma \frac{|x|^2}{2N}$ is harmonic in B_{ρ} , the Harnack inequality in B_{ρ} implies

$$C\rho \leq \sup_{B_{\rho/2}} h \leq C_N (h(x) + \gamma \rho^2)$$
 for every $x \in B_{\frac{\rho}{2}}$,

where C_N is a dimensional constant. Thus, by taking ρ_1 such that $2C_N\rho_1\gamma \leq C$, we obtain that $h \ge C_N C \rho = \overline{C} \rho$ in $B_{\frac{\rho}{2}}$. On the other hand, if $L = L(N, k, a, \Omega, \eta)$ is the Lipschitz constant of u_i (by Theorem 2.7), then for any $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$, $u_i \leq L \varepsilon \rho$ in $B_{\varepsilon \rho}$. Then

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} (h - u_i) \, dx \ge \int_{B_{\varepsilon\rho}} (h - u_i) \, dx \ge (\overline{C}\rho - L\varepsilon\rho) |B_{\varepsilon\rho}|,$$
16

which, after choosing $\varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{2}$ small enough, shows that

$$\frac{1}{\rho} \int_{B_{\rho}} (h - u_i) \, dx \ge C_0 |B_{\rho}|,$$

for some constant $C_0 = C_0(N, k, a, \Omega, \eta) > 0$ and thus

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} |\nabla (u_i - h)|^2 \, dx \ge C_b |B_{\rho}|$$

for some $C_b = C_b(N, k, a, \Omega, \eta) > 0.$

At this point, using also (2.34), we have

$$C_b|B_{\rho}| \le \frac{1}{\eta}|B_{\rho} \cap \{u=0\}| + C_h\rho|B_{\rho}|$$

It is then enough to take

$$\rho_1 \leq \frac{C_b}{2C_h},$$

and we obtain that

$$\frac{C_b}{2}|B_{\rho}| \le \frac{1}{\eta}|B_{\rho} \cap \{u_i = 0\}|,$$

which entails the density estimate from above, so the upper bound is proved for one-phase points. **Step 3.** Upper bound of (2.31) at two-phase points. Suppose now that there exists $i \neq j$ such that $x_0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_j} \cap \Omega$, so that x_0 is a two-phase point (thus, in a neighborhood of x_0 there are no other components). Then

$$1 = \frac{|B_{\rho}(x_0)|}{|B_{\rho}(x_0)|} = \frac{|\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho}(x_0)| + |\Omega_{u_j} \cap B_{\rho}(x_0)| + |\{u_i = u_j = 0\} \cap B_{\rho}(x_0)|}{|B_{\rho}(x_0)|}$$

Hence, by using the bound from below proved in Step 1 we obtain

$$\frac{\Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{\rho}(x_0)|}{|B_{\rho}(x_0)|} = 1 - \frac{|\Omega_{u_j} \cap B_{\rho}(x_0)|}{|B_{\rho}(x_0)|} - \frac{|\{u_i = u_j = 0\} \cap B_{\rho}(x_0)|}{|B_{\rho}(x_0)|} \le 1 - \xi$$

as wanted.

Step 4. We now focus on the final claim, estimate (2.32). Notice that from Federer's Structure Theorem (see Theorem A.7), we have

 $\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\partial^e \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \partial^* \Omega_{u_i}) = 0.$

On the other hand, the definition of essential boundary and the results of Steps 1, 2, 3 imply

$$\partial^e \Omega_{u_i} = \partial \Omega_{u_i} \setminus (\Omega_{u_i}^{(0)} \cap \Omega_{u_i}^{(1)}) = \partial \Omega_{u_i}.$$

One can also deduce the following nondegeneracy property of the gradient, see for instance [7, Corollary 3.4].

Corollary 2.14. Given $\eta \in (0,1]$, let $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ be an L^2 normalized minimizer for J_{η} achieving c_{η} . Then there exist $\rho_0, K_0 > 0$ (the constants from Lemma 2.11) and $C_N > 0$, a constant depending only on the dimension N, such that

$$\int_{B_{\rho}(x_0)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \ge C_N K_0^2, \quad \text{for all } \rho \le \rho_0, \ x_0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_i}.$$
(2.35)

Proof. It is clear that, for all $\rho > 0$,

$$B_{\rho}(x_0) \cap \Omega_{u_i} \neq \emptyset$$

Moreover, we have that for all $\rho \leq \rho_0$

$$\partial B_{\rho}(x_0) \cap \Omega_{u_i} \neq \emptyset.$$

In fact, if for the sake of contradiction this does not hold, and for some $\rho \in (0, \rho_0] > 0$ we have $\Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial B_{\rho}(x_0) = \emptyset$, then, recalling also that Ω_{u_i} is connected (Remark 2.10), then $\Omega_{u_i} \subset B_{\rho}(x_0)$ and thus $\lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i}) \geq \lambda_1(B_{\rho})$, which is in contradiction with the minimality of (u_1, \ldots, u_k) up to taking ρ_0 sufficiently small. Then, the conclusion follows by applying Lemma A.2, (2.30) and (2.31).

2.3. The optimal sets have finite perimeter. We close this section with another important property for minimizers $(u_{1,\eta}, \ldots, u_{k,\eta})$ of c_{η} : the sets $\Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}$ have finite perimeter.

Lemma 2.15. Let $(u_{1,\eta}, \ldots, u_{k,\eta}) \in \overline{H}$ be an L^2 -normalized minimizer of J_η attaining c_η . There exists a positive constant $C = C(N, k, a, \Omega)$ such that, for every $i = 1, \ldots, k$,

$$\operatorname{Per}(\Omega_{u_{i,n}}) \le C\eta^{-1/2}.$$

Proof. We drop the dependence of the minimizers on η , for simplicity. For t > 0 and i = 1, ..., k, we consider the perturbations

$$(u_1,\ldots,u_{i-1},(u_i-t)^+,u_{i+1},\ldots,u_k).$$

The minimality of (u_1, \ldots, u_k) implies that

$$J_{\eta}(u_1, \dots, u_k) \le J_{\eta}(u_1, \dots, u_{i-1}, (u_i - t)^+, u_{i+1}, \dots, u_k).$$

Hence,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{j}|^{2} + f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}}| \right) \leq \sum_{j \neq i}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{j}|^{2} + \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u_{i} - t)^{+}|^{2}}{\int_{\Omega} |(u_{i} - t)^{+}|^{2}} + f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{j \neq i}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{j}}| + |\Omega_{(u_{i} - t)^{+}}| \right),$$

and, by using the fact that $|\Omega_{(u_i-t)^+}| \leq |\Omega_{u_i}|$ and Lemma 2.1-(2),

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} + \eta \left(|\Omega_{u_{i}}| - |\Omega_{(u_{i}-t)^{+}}| \right) \leq \sum_{j\neq i}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{j}|^{2} + \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u_{i}-t)^{+}|^{2}}{\int_{\Omega} |(u_{i}-t)^{+}|^{2}}$$

This implies (by using [6, Lemma A.1])

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \eta |\{0 < u_i \le t\}| \le & \int_{\{u_i > t\}} |\nabla u_i|^2 + 2t \int_{\Omega} u_i \int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u_i - t)^+|^2 \\ & + Ct^2 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u_i - t)^+|^2, \end{split}$$

for t sufficiently small.

Hence, by using $||u_i||_2 = 1, t \leq 1$ and the Hölder inequality, we infer that

$$\int_{\{0 < u_i \le t\}} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \eta |\{0 < u_i \le t\}| \le \left(2t |\Omega_{u_i}|^{1/2} + Ct^2\right) \int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u_i - t)^+|^2,$$
$$\le (2a^{1/2} + C)c_\eta t.$$

By the Coarea formula and the Young inequality, we deduce

$$2\sqrt{\eta} \int_0^t \mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\{u_i = s\}) \, ds = 2\sqrt{\eta} \int_{\{0 \le u_i \le t\}} |\nabla u_i| \, dx \le \int_{\{0 < u_i \le t\}} |\nabla u_i|^2 + \eta |\{0 < u_i \le t\}| \le (C + 2a^{1/2})c_\eta t,$$

or, equivalently,

$$\int_0^t \mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\{u_i = s\}) \, ds \le \frac{(C+2a^{1/2})c_\eta t}{2\sqrt{\eta}}.$$

Now, we take t = 1/n to obtain

$$n\int_0^{1/n} \operatorname{Per}(\{u_i > s\}) \, ds = n\int_0^{1/n} \mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\{u_i = s\}) \, ds \le \frac{(C+2a^{1/2})c_{\eta}}{2\sqrt{\eta}}.$$

Hence, there exists $\delta_n \in [0, 1/n]$ such that

$$\operatorname{Per}(\{u_i > \delta_n\}) \le n \int_0^{1/n} \operatorname{Per}(\{u_i > s\}) \, ds \le \frac{(C + 2a^{1/2})c_{\eta}}{2\sqrt{\eta}}$$

and, by taking the limit as $n\to 0$ and using the lower semicontinuity of the perimeter with respect to $L^1\text{-}{\rm convergence},$ we conclude

$$\Pr(\{u_i > 0\}) \le \frac{(C + 2a^{1/2})c_{\eta}}{2\sqrt{\eta}}.$$

3. Two-phase points in the interior and one-phase point on the boundary

3.1. Absence of triple points in Ω . First, we rule out triple points in the interior of Ω , using a three phase monotonicity formula, as in [7, 12].

Theorem 3.1. Given $\eta \in (0, 1]$, let (u_1, \ldots, u_k) be a minimizer for the functional J_η over \overline{H} , achieving c_η . Then, if $1 \leq i, j, l \leq k$ are three different indexes, we have that

$$\partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_j} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_l} \cap \Omega = \emptyset.$$

Proof. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that we can find $x_0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_j} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_l} \cap \Omega$. Then, by Corollary 2.14, we have

$$\oint_{B_r(x_0)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \ge 4K_0^2, \qquad \oint_{B_r(x_0)} |\nabla u_j|^2 \ge 4K_0^2, \qquad \oint_{B_r(x_0)} |\nabla u_l|^2 \ge 4K_0^2, \tag{3.1}$$

for r sufficiently small. By applying Lemma A.4 (in the form of inequality (A.1)), we obtain

$$\prod_{m=i,j,l} \left(\frac{1}{r^{2+\varepsilon}} \int_{B_r} \frac{|\nabla u_m|^2}{|x|^{N-2}} dx \right) \le C \left(1 + \sum_{m=i,j,l} \int_{B_2} u_m^2 \right)^3,$$

which implies

$$\prod_{m=i,j,l} \left(\frac{1}{r^N} \int_{B_r} |\nabla u_m|^2 dx \right) \le r^{3\varepsilon} C \left(1 + \sum_{m=i,j,l} \int_{B_2} u_m^2 \right)^3 \le r^{3\varepsilon} C.$$

Therefore, for r sufficiently small

$$\prod_{n=i,j,l} \left(\oint_{B_r} |\nabla u_m|^2 dx \right) < (4K_0^2)^3$$

which is a contradiction with (3.1).

3.2. Absence of two-phase point on the boundary of Ω . We can also show that there are no two-phase points on the boundary of Ω , inspired by, for example, [39, Section 4].

Theorem 3.2. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be an open bounded set with Lipschitz boundary, $\eta \in (0,1]$ and (u_1,\ldots,u_k) be a minimizer for J_η on \overline{H} . Then

$$\partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega = \emptyset, \qquad for all \ i \neq j.$$

Proof. For the sake of contradiction, let $x_0 \in \partial \Omega \cap \partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_i}$. Then by Corollary 2.14 we have

$$\int_{B_r(x_0)} |\nabla u_i|^2 \ge 4K_0^2, \qquad \int_{B_r(x_0)} |\nabla u_j|^2 \ge 4K_0^2, \qquad \text{for } r \le \bar{r} \text{ sufficiently small.}$$
(3.2)

Since $\partial\Omega$ is Lipschitz, then $B_{\bar{r}}(x_0) \setminus (\overline{\Omega_{u_i} \cup \Omega_{u_j}})$ is a nonempty domain with Lipschitz boundary; for simplicity, from now on we assume without loss of generality that $x_0 = 0$. We need to build an auxiliary third phase there to employ the three phase monotonicity formula. We follow the approach of [39, Proof of Proposition 4.2]. Let $v \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ be the $(1 + \gamma)$ -homogeneous, non-negative harmonic function on the cone $\mathcal{C}_{\delta} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : x_N > \delta |x|\}$, which vanishes on $\partial \mathcal{C}_{\delta}$. We note that, for δ small enough, it is clear that, up to a rotation, $\mathcal{C}_{\delta} \subset \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \overline{\Omega_{u_i} \cup \Omega_{u_j}}$. In polar coordinates,

$$v = r^{1+\gamma}\phi(\theta),$$

where ϕ is the first eigenfunction of the spherical Laplacian on $\mathcal{C}_{\delta} \cap \mathbb{S}^{N-1}$, that is,

$$-\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}}\phi = (1+\gamma)(N-1+\gamma)\phi \quad \text{in} \quad \mathcal{C}_{\delta} \cap \mathbb{S}^{N-1}, \qquad \phi = 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \mathcal{C}_{\delta} \cap \mathbb{S}^{N-1}, \qquad \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \phi^2(\theta) \, d\theta = 1,$$

where we notice that γ is uniquely determined by δ (and the dimension N) and

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \gamma(\delta) = 0.$$

Moreover, we have that

$$\Delta v \ge 0$$
 in sense of distributions in \mathbb{R}^N

By the three-phase monotonicity formula, Lemma A.4, which we can apply thanks to the subharmonicity of v, there are constants C > 0 and $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$Cr^{3\varepsilon} \ge \left(\oint_{B_r} |\nabla u_i|^2 \, dx \right) \left(\oint_{B_r} |\nabla u_j|^2 \, dx \right) \left(\oint_{B_r} |\nabla v|^2 \, dx \right).$$

Now, from (3.2),

$$\begin{split} r^{3\varepsilon} &\geq C_N K_0^4 \frac{1}{|B_r|} \int_{B_r} |\nabla v|^2 \, dx \\ &= C_N K_0^4 \frac{1}{|B_r|} \int_0^r \int_{\mathbb{S}^{N-1}} \left((1+\gamma)^2 \phi^2(\theta) + |\nabla_\theta \phi(\theta)|^2 \right) \rho^{N-1+2\gamma} \, d\theta \, d\rho = C_N K_0^4 (1+\gamma) r^{2\gamma}, \end{split}$$

which is impossible when δ (and thus γ) is small enough (ε being a fixed constant, depending on N, $\lambda_1(\Omega_i)$ and $\lambda_1(\Omega_j)$, but not on δ).

4. Existence of a one-phase point, shape variations at the free boundary, and Equivalence with the constrained problem

Let us first show that at least a regular one-phase point exists in the reduced boundary of one component of the partition. This is something that is natural to expect, but its proof is not completely trivial.

Lemma 4.1. Given $\eta \in (0,1]$, let (u_1, \ldots, u_k) be optimal for problem (2.3). There exists $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ such that $\Gamma_{OP}(\partial \Omega_{u_i}) \cap \partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \neq \emptyset$.

Proof. If, for some $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$, we have that $\partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega \neq \emptyset$, then thanks to Theorem 3.2, we infer that all points p in the relative boundary of $\partial \Omega_{u_i}$ with respect to $\partial \Omega$, i.e. $p \in \partial_{rel} \left(\partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega \right) \neq \emptyset$, are one-phase points. As a consequence, also using the relative isoperimetric inequality (see for example [36, Remark 12.38]), we deduce that $\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap B_r(p)) > 0$ for all r > 0. Since the set of one-phase points $\Gamma_{OP}(\partial \Omega_{u_i})$ is a relatively open set of $\partial \Omega_{u_i}$, and $\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\partial \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \partial^* \Omega_{u_i}) = 0$, we can find a point $p' \in \partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \cap \Gamma_{OP}(\partial \Omega_{u_i})$.

If this does not happen, namely for all $i = 1, \ldots, k$ it holds $\partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega = \emptyset$, then we can find another open, bounded set with Lipschitz boundary $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ such that the optimal vector (u_1, \ldots, u_k) still solves problem (2.3) in Ω' and there is at least a contact point $p \in \partial \Omega' \cap \partial \Omega_{u_i}$ for some $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$, so we are reduced to the situation of the previous paragraph. To show the existence of such an Ω' , it is sufficient to choose a direction, for example e_1 , and consider the intersection $\Omega_t = \Omega \cap \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : x \cdot e_1 = x_1 > t\}$, for $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Then we can define $\Omega' = \Omega_{\overline{t}}$ (which is clearly an open, bounded set with Lipschitz boundary), where \overline{t} is the largest t such that Ω_t contains all $\cup_l \Omega_{u_l}$. This choice of \overline{t} also ensures that $\partial \Omega' \cap \partial \Omega_{u_i} \neq \emptyset$ at least for some i, so we have concluded. \Box

We now prove (see Propositions 4.2 and 4.3 and Remark 4.4 below) that, in the sense of measures as in [1, 3], there exists m_{η} such that an optimal vector (u_1, \ldots, u_k) for (2.3) is a solution to

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u_i = \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i})u_i + |\nabla u_i|^2 \mathcal{H}^{N-1} \sqcup \partial^* \Omega_{u_i} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ |\nabla u_i|^2 = m_\eta & \text{on } \left(\partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \cup_{j \neq i} \partial \Omega_{u_j}\right) \cap \Omega, \\ |\nabla u_i|^2 \ge m_\eta, \quad |\nabla u_j|^2 \ge m_\eta \quad \text{and} \quad |\nabla u_i|^2 - |\nabla u_j|^2 = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial^* \Omega_{u_j} \cap \Omega. \end{cases}$$

At this point the notation $|\nabla u_i|^2$ is purely formal (see Propositions 4.2 and 4.3 and Remark 4.4 for the actual statements), but it will be precise once we prove that $\partial^* \Omega_{u_i}$ is regular. We note that we do not have different constants for each component because the measure-penalization term computes f_{η} on the measure of the union of all Ω_{u_i} , $i = 1, \ldots, k$, and does not penalize each set with a different weight.

Proposition 4.2. Let (u_1, \ldots, u_k) be optimal for problem (2.3). For all $i = 1, \ldots, k$, there is a nonnegative Borel function $q_{u_i} : \partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that, in the sense of distributions, one has

$$-\Delta u_i = \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i})u_i + q_{u_i}(x)\mathcal{H}^{N-1} \sqcup \partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \qquad in \ \Omega.$$
(4.1)

Moreover, for all points $\overline{x} \in \partial^* \Omega_{u_i}$, the measure theoretic inner unit normal $\nu_{u_i}(\overline{x})$ is well defined and, as $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$\frac{\Omega_{u_i} - \overline{x}}{\varepsilon} \to \{ x : x \cdot \nu_{u_i}(\overline{x}) \ge 0 \} \qquad in \ L^1(\Omega).$$
(4.2)

Finally, for every $\overline{x} \in \partial^* \Omega_{u_i}$, we have

$$\frac{u_i(\overline{x} + \varepsilon x)}{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow q_{u_i}(\overline{x})(x \cdot \nu_{u_i}(\overline{x}))_+ \quad in \ L^1(\Omega), \ as \ \varepsilon \to 0.$$

$$(4.3)$$

Proof. Checking that equation (4.1) holds is standard and boils down to showing that $-\Delta u_i - \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i})u_i$ is locally a Radon measure concentrated on $\partial^*\Omega_{u_i}$ and can be done for example as in [11, Proposition 2.3], see also Lemma 2.5. Claim (4.2) is a direct consequence of Theorem A.6, while (4.3) follows as in [3, Theorem 4.8].

We are now in position to prove an optimality condition at one-phase points of the reduced boundary of each component of an optimal partition, following the approach of [1].

Proposition 4.3. Under the assumptions and notations of Proposition 4.2, there exists $m_{\eta} \ge 0$ such that the functions $(q_{u_1}, \ldots, q_{u_k})$ satisfy the following:

$$q_{u_i} = m_{\eta} \qquad on \left(\partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \bigcup_{j \neq i} \partial \Omega_{u_j}\right) \cap \Omega, \qquad for \ all \ i = 1, \dots, k.$$

$$(4.4)$$

Proof. Let $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, k\}, i \leq j$, and

$$x_0 \in \left(\partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \bigcup_{\ell \neq i} \partial \Omega_{u_\ell}\right) \cap \Omega, \qquad x_1 \in \left(\partial^* \Omega_{u_j} \setminus \bigcup_{\ell \neq j} \partial \Omega_{u_\ell}\right) \cap \Omega$$

such that $x_0 \neq x_1$. Then we construct a family of volume preserving diffeomorphisms as follows: let $\rho > 0$ be such that

$$B_{\rho}(x_0) \subset \Omega \setminus \bigcup_{\ell \neq i} \partial \Omega_{u_{\ell}}, \quad B_{\rho}(x_1) \subset \Omega \setminus \bigcup_{\ell \neq j} \partial \Omega_{u_{\ell}}, \quad B_{\rho}(x_0) \cap B_{\rho}(x_1) = \emptyset,$$
(4.5)

and let $\varphi \in C^1([0,1])$ be a nontrivial function, such that $\varphi = 0$ in a neighborhood of 1. We define, for $\kappa > 0$,

$$\tau_{\rho,\kappa}(x) = \tau(x) := x + \kappa\rho\varphi\left(\frac{|x-x_0|}{\rho}\right)\nu_{x_0}\chi_{B_\rho(x_0)} - \kappa\rho\varphi\left(\frac{|x-x_1|}{\rho}\right)\nu_{x_1}\chi_{B_\rho(x_1)},$$

where ν_{x_m} , with $m \in \{0,1\}$, is the measure theoretic inner normals to $\partial^* \Omega_{u_\ell}$ at x_m , for $\ell = i, j$ and m = 0, 1. We have:

$$D\tau(x) = Id + \kappa\varphi'\left(\frac{|x-x_0|}{\rho}\right)\frac{x-x_0}{|x-x_0|} \otimes \nu_{x_0}\chi_{B_\rho(x_0)} - \kappa\varphi'\left(\frac{|x-x_1|}{\rho}\right)\frac{x-x_1}{|x-x_1|} \otimes \nu_{x_1}\chi_{B_\rho(x_1)}.$$
 (4.6)

We have that $\tau(x) - x$ vanishes outside $B_{\rho}(x_0) \cup B_{\rho}(x_1)$ while, for κ small enough, τ is a diffeomorphism. Using the Jacobi's formula $\det(Id + \xi A) = 1 + \operatorname{trace}(A)\xi + o(\xi)$, valid for any matrix $A \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$, we have

$$\det(D\tau(x)) = 1 + \kappa \varphi' \left(\frac{|x-x_0|}{\rho}\right) \frac{x-x_0}{|x-x_0|} \cdot \nu_{x_0} \chi_{B_{\rho}(x_0)}(x) - \kappa \varphi' \left(\frac{|x-x_1|}{\rho}\right) \frac{x-x_1}{|x-x_1|} \cdot \nu_{x_1} \chi_{B_{\rho}(x_1)}(x) + o(\kappa) \chi_{B_{\rho}(x_0) \cup B_{\rho}(x_1)}(x)$$
(4.7)

as $\kappa \to 0$, uniformly in ρ . We call $\Omega_{\rho,\ell} = \tau(\Omega_{u_\ell})$ and $\tilde{u}_{\rho,\ell}(z) = u_\ell(\tau^{-1}(z))$, noting that $\tilde{u}_{\rho,\ell} \in H_0^1(\Omega_{\rho,\ell})$, for $\ell = i, j$. Notice that, by (4.5), it is clear that $(u_1, \ldots, \tilde{u}_{\rho,i}, \ldots, \tilde{u}_{\rho,j}, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$, so it is an admissible vector. We now perform the first variation of each term of the sum defining J_{η} . Regarding the variation of the L^2 -norm,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\ell \in \{i,j\}} \frac{1}{\rho^N} \left(\int_{\Omega_{\rho,\ell}} \tilde{u}_{\rho,\ell}^2(z) \, dz - \int_{\Omega_{u_\ell}} u_l^2(x) \, dx \right) &= \sum_{\ell \in \{i,j\}} \frac{1}{\rho^N} \int_{\Omega_{u_\ell}} \left(u_\ell^2(x) \det(D\tau(x)) - u_\ell^2(x) \right) dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\rho^N} \int_{B_\rho(x_0) \cap \Omega_{u_i}} \left(u_i^2(x) \det(D\tau(x)) - u_i^2(x) \right) dx + \frac{1}{\rho^N} \int_{B_\rho(x_1) \cap \Omega_{u_j}} \left(u_j^2(x) \det(D\tau(x)) - u_j^2(x) \right) dx \\ &= \int_{B_1(0) \cap \frac{\Omega_{u_i} - x_1}{\rho}} \left(u_i^2(x_0 + \rho y) \det(D\tau(x_0 + \rho y)) - u_i^2(x_0 + \rho y) \right) dy \\ &+ \int_{B_1(0) \cap \frac{\Omega_{u_j} - x_1}{\rho}} \left(u_j^2(x_1 + \rho y) \det(D\tau(x_1 + \rho y)) - u_j^2(x_1 + \rho y) \right) dy \\ &= \int_{B_1 \cap \left(\frac{\Omega_{u_j} - x_1}{\rho} \right)} \frac{u_i^2(x_0 + \rho y)}{\rho^2} \rho^2 \, \kappa \, \varphi'(|y|) \frac{y}{|y|} \cdot \nu_{x_0} \, dy \\ &- \int_{B_1 \cap \left(\frac{\Omega_{u_j} - x_1}{\rho} \right)} \frac{u_j^2(x_1 + \rho y)}{\rho^2} \rho^2 \, \kappa \, \varphi'(|y|) \frac{y}{|y|} \cdot \nu_{x_1} \, dy + o(\kappa) \\ &= o_\kappa(1)(\rho^2 + \kappa) \end{split}$$

(where $o_{\kappa}(1) \to 0$ as $\kappa \to 0$), where we performed the change of variable $x = x_m + \rho y$, exploited (4.7) and used Proposition 4.2. We stress that the computations regarding the volume and the Dirichlet integral contributions are identical to those performed originally in [1, Theorem 3]. For the volume term, one has

$$|\Omega_{\rho,\ell}| - |\Omega_{u_\ell}| = O(\kappa)\rho^N + o(\kappa)\rho^N \quad \text{as } \kappa, \rho \to 0;$$
(4.8)

from the properties of f_{η} (Lemma 2.1), one immediately infers that

$$f_{\eta}(|\Omega_{\rho,i} \cup \Omega_{\rho,j} \cup (\cup_{\ell \notin \{i,j\}} \Omega_{u_j})|) - f_{\eta}(|\cup_{\ell} \Omega_{u_{\ell}}|) = o_{\kappa}(1)\rho^N + o(\kappa)\rho^N, \quad \text{as } \kappa, \rho \to 0.$$

$$(4.9)$$

For the Dirichlet energy term we rewrite all the details from [1], since we are going to need some intermediate steps in the proof of Proposition 5.14 below:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \frac{1}{\rho^{N}} \Big(\int_{\Omega_{\rho,\ell}} |\nabla \widetilde{u}_{\rho,\ell}|^{2} - \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\ell}|^{2} \Big) \\ &= \sum_{\ell \in \{i,j\}} \frac{1}{\rho^{N}} \int_{\Omega_{\rho,\ell}} |Du_{\ell}(x)[D\tau(x)]^{-1}|^{2} \det(D\tau(x)) - |\nabla u_{\ell}|^{2} dx \\ &= \int_{B_{1} \cap \frac{\Omega_{u_{i}} - x_{0}}{\rho}} |Du_{i}(x_{0} + \rho y)[D\tau(x_{0} + \rho y)]^{-1}|^{2} \det(D\tau(x_{0} + \rho y)) - |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} dx \\ &+ \int_{B_{1} \cap \frac{\Omega_{u_{j}} - x_{1}}{\rho}} |Du_{j}(x_{1} + \rho y)[D\tau(x_{1} + \rho y)]^{-1}|^{2} \det(D\tau(x_{1} + \rho y)) - |\nabla u_{j}|^{2} dx \\ &= -\kappa \int_{B_{1} \cap \frac{\Omega_{u_{i}} - x_{0}}{\rho}} 2\varphi'(|y|) \left(\nabla \widetilde{u}_{\rho,i} \cdot \frac{y}{|y|} \right) (\nabla \widetilde{u}_{\rho,i} \cdot \nu_{x_{0}}) - \varphi'(|y|) |\nabla \widetilde{u}_{\rho,i}|^{2} \left(\nu_{x_{0}} \cdot \frac{y}{|y|} \right) \\ &+ \kappa \int_{B_{1} \cap \frac{\Omega_{u_{j}} - x_{1}}{\rho}} 2\varphi'(|y|) \left(\nabla \widetilde{u}_{\rho,j} \cdot \frac{y}{|y|} \right) (\nabla \widetilde{u}_{\rho,j} \cdot \nu_{x_{1}}) - \varphi'(|y|) |\nabla \widetilde{u}_{\rho,j}|^{2} \left(\nu_{x_{1}} \cdot \frac{y}{|y|} \right) + o(\kappa) \\ &= \kappa (C_{0}(\varphi)q_{u_{i}}^{2}(x_{0}) - C_{1}(\varphi)q_{u_{j}}^{2}(x_{1})) + o_{\rho}(1) + o(\kappa), \end{split}$$

where we have used Proposition 4.2 (which implies that $\nabla \widetilde{u}_{\rho,i} \to q_{u_i}(x_0)\nu_{x_0}\chi_{\{x\cdot\nu_{x_0}\geq 0\}}$ a.e., and the same for u_j at x_1) and for $m \in \{0,1\}$

$$C_m(\varphi) := -\int_{B_1 \cap \{y \cdot \nu_{x_m} > 0\}} \varphi'(|y|) \frac{y \cdot \nu_{x_m}}{|y|} \, dy = \int_{B_1 \cap \{y \cdot \nu_{x_m} = 0\}} \varphi(|y|) \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(y). \tag{4.10}$$

The last equality follows from the Divergence Theorem, recalling that ν_{x_m} is an inner normal and

$$\operatorname{div}(\varphi(|y|)\nu_{x_m}) = \varphi'(|y|)\frac{y \cdot \nu_{x_m}}{|y|}$$

Notice also that, by the radial symmetry of φ , $C_0(\varphi) = C_1(\varphi) = C(\varphi)$, namely this quantity is not affected by the choice of the normal ν .

Summarizing, we have that (recalling also that $\int_{\Omega} u_i^2 = 1$), and using the minimality of (u_1, \ldots, u_k)

$$J_{\eta}(u_{1},...,u_{k}) \leq J_{\eta}(u_{1},...,\widetilde{u}_{\rho,i},...,\widetilde{u}_{\rho,j},...,u_{k})$$

$$\leq J_{\eta}(u_{1},...,u_{k}) + \kappa \rho^{N} C(\varphi)((q_{u_{i}}(x_{0}))^{2} - (q_{u_{j}}(x_{1}))^{2}) + o(\rho^{N}) + \rho^{N} o(\kappa).$$

Therefore

$$0 \le \kappa \rho^N C(\varphi)((q_{u_i}(x_0))^2 - (q_{u_j}(x_1))^2) + o(\rho^N) + \rho^N o(\kappa).$$

Dividing by $\kappa \rho^N$, letting $\rho \to 0$, and then $\kappa \to 0$, we deduce that

$$q_{u_i}(x_1) \le q_{u_i}(x_0),$$

using also the fact that q_{u_i}, q_{u_j} are nonnegative. Since x_0, x_1 are arbitrary (and taking i = j in the above arguments), then there exists a constant m_η such that

$$q_{u_i}(x_0) \equiv m_{\eta} \qquad \text{for all } x_0 \in \left(\partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \bigcup_{j \neq i} \partial \Omega_{u_j}\right) \cap \Omega, \ i = 1, \dots, k.$$

Remark 4.4. Using a proof similar to the one of Proposition 4.3, it is possible to show the following result at two-phase points of the reduced boundaries:

$$q_{u_i} \ge m_\eta, \quad q_{u_j} \ge m_\eta \quad and \quad q_{u_i} - q_{u_j} = 0 \quad on \quad \partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial^* \Omega_{u_j} \cap \Omega, \qquad for \ all \ i \neq j.$$

However, we will prove this kind of result at all two-phase points, see Proposition 5.14 below.

The density estimates from above and from below of Lemma 2.13 then entail the following result.

Lemma 4.5. There are universal constants $0 < c \leq C$ such that, for all $\eta \in (0,1]$ and for all i,

$$0 < c \le q_{u_i}(x) \le C \text{ for } x \in \partial^* \Omega_{u_i} \cap \Gamma_{OP}(\partial \Omega_{u_i}), \qquad \text{which implies} \qquad 0 < c \le m_\eta \le C.$$

Proof. The first statement follows as in [3, Theorem 4.3]. Then, since q_{u_i} is equal to m_{η} at one-phase points, we deduce the same bounds also on m_{η} .

We are now in position to prove the existence of a constant η for which there is equivalence between the constrained and the unconstrained problem.

Lemma 4.6. There exists $\eta_0 > 0$ such that, for $0 < \eta < \eta_0$, if $(u_{1,\eta}, \ldots, u_{k,\eta})$ is optimal for problem (2.3), then we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}| = a.$$

In particular, the partition $(\Omega_{u_{1,n}}, \ldots, \Omega_{u_{k,n}})$ solves our original problem (1.1).

Proof. We already know that $\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}| \leq a$, thanks to Lemma 2.9. For the sake of contradiction, let us assume that

$$\sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}| < a.$$

Then, following the same idea of [1], it is enough to do an outward perturbation at a one-phase (regular) point $x_0 \in \partial^* \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}} \cap \Omega$ for some $i = 1, \ldots, k$. Such a point exists thanks to Lemma 4.1. We use the optimality condition at the one-phase free boundary, $|\nabla u_{i,\eta}|^2(x_0) = m_\eta$, with m_η uniformly bounded from below (and from above) by Lemma 4.5, and a standard first variation argument on the first eigenvalue of the Dirichlet Laplacian. More precisely, we consider a small ball $B_r(x_0) \subset \Omega \setminus \bigcup_{j \neq i} \Omega_{u_{j,\eta}}$ such that $|\bigcup_j \Omega_{u_{j,\eta}} \cup B_r(x_0)| < a$, and take a smooth vector field compactly supported in this ball, $\xi \in C_c^{\infty}(B_r(x_0), \mathbb{R}^N)$. For t > 0 sufficiently small, we define

$$\Omega_{u_{i,\eta},t} := (Id + t\xi)(\Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}) \subset \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}} \cup B_r(x_0).$$

We note that we do not require that ξ only pushes outward the set. A shape variation formula (see [32, Section 5.9.3]) leads to

$$\lambda_1(\Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}) - \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_{i,\eta},t}) = t \int_{\partial^* \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}} \cap B_r(x_0)} q_{u_{i,\eta}} \xi \cdot \nu \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} + o(t)$$
$$= tm_\eta \int_{\partial^* \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}} \cap B_r(x_0)} \xi \cdot \nu \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} + o(t) \quad \text{as } t \to 0,$$

where, in the last identity, we used Proposition 4.3. Then we use the Divergence Theorem (on the set $\Omega_{u_{i,\eta,t}} \setminus \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}$, and we can choose a vector field as a suitable multiple of the one in [50, Lemma 11.3] and t sufficiently small so that

$$\lambda_1(\Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}) - \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_{i,\eta},t}) = tm_\eta \int_{\Omega_{u_{i,\eta,t}} \setminus \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}} \operatorname{div} \xi \, dx + o(t) = m_\eta |\Omega_{u_{i,\eta,t}} \setminus \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}| t + o(t).$$

Using the minimality of $(u_{1,\eta}, \ldots, u_{k,\eta})$, the information above and Lemma 4.5, we finally obtain

$$c|\Omega_{u_{i,\eta},t} \setminus \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}| \le m_{\eta}|\Omega_{u_{i,\eta},t} \setminus \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}| \le \sum_{j=1}^{k} \lambda_{1}(\Omega_{u_{j,\eta}}) - \sum_{j=1}^{k} \lambda_{1}(\Omega_{u_{j,\eta},t})$$
$$\le f_{\eta}(|\cup_{j \ne i} \Omega_{u_{j,\eta}} \cup \Omega_{u_{j,\eta},t}|) - f_{\eta}(|\cup_{j} \Omega_{u_{j,\eta}}|)$$
$$= \eta(|\Omega_{u_{i,\eta},t} \setminus \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}| - |\Omega_{u_{i,\eta}} \setminus \Omega_{u_{i,\eta},t}|) \le \eta|\Omega_{u_{i,\eta},t} \setminus \Omega_{u_{i,\eta}}|.$$

For $\eta \leq \eta_0$ small enough we obtain a contradiction.

Remark 4.7. Thanks to Lemma 4.6, we can now fix $\eta > 0$ small enough so that, taking an optimal vector $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ of problem (2.3), the nodal sets $\Omega_{u_1}, \ldots, \Omega_{u_k}$ are mutually disjoint and satisfy the measure constraint $|\bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \Omega_{u_i}| = a$. Thus $f_{\eta}(\bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \Omega_{u_i}) = 0$, $J_{\eta}(u_1, \ldots, u_k) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i})$, and

 $(\Omega_{u_1},\ldots,\Omega_{u_k})$ is an optimal partition of the original constrained optimal partition problem (1.1).

In order to conclude the proof of Theorem 1.1, we will use, in Section 6, the fact that we have found both a solution of (2.3) and (1.1). In the following section, in order to classify blowups at two-phase points, we exploit (2.3).

5. Classification of blowups at two-phase points

Up to now, we have only partially classified blowups at points of the reduced boundary (recall Propositions 4.2 and 4.3, and Remark 4.4). In this section, using other arguments, we completely classify blowup limits at *all* two-phase points, combining then all these information together to obtain a common lower bounds of some quantities. More precisely, we prove the following result.

Theorem 5.1. Take $\eta \in (0,1]$ and let (u_1,\ldots,u_k) be an L^2 -normalized solution for problem (2.3). Let $i \neq j$ and $x_0 \in \Gamma_{TP}(\partial \Omega_i) \cap \Gamma_{TP}(\partial \Omega_j)$, that is, $x_0 \in (\partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_j} \cap \Omega) \setminus \bigcup_{\ell \neq i,j} \overline{\Omega}_{u_\ell}$ is a two-phase point at the boundary of Ω_{u_i} and Ω_{u_i} .

Take the blowup sequences centered at x_0 : for small $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$u_{i,\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{u_i(x_0 + \varepsilon x)}{\varepsilon}, \qquad u_{j,\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{u_j(x_0 + \varepsilon x)}{\varepsilon}, \quad \text{for } x \in \Omega_{\varepsilon} := \frac{\Omega - x_0}{\varepsilon},$$

extended by zero outside Ω_{ε} . Then there exists $m(x_0)$ such that, up to pass to a subsequence, as $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$u_{i,\varepsilon} \to m(x_0)(x \cdot \nu)_+, \qquad u_{j,\varepsilon} \to m(x_0)(x \cdot \nu)_- \quad strongly \ in \ L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N) \ and \ H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
(5.1)

for some $\nu \in \partial B_1$. Moreover,

$$\frac{\Omega_{u_i}-x_0}{\varepsilon} \to \{x\cdot\nu>0\}, \quad \frac{\Omega_{u_j}-x_0}{\varepsilon} \to \{x\cdot\nu<0\} \quad \ in \ L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

The remainder of this section is dedicated to the proof of this theorem. To simplify notation, we take from now on i = 1, j = 2 and assume without loss of generality that $x_0 = 0$. We also consider u_1, u_2 extended by zero to $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \Omega$.

We start with a first characterization of the blowup limits.

Lemma 5.2. Under the assumptions of Theorem 5.1, there exists $\bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2 \in C^{0,1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that, up to pass to a subsequence,

$$u_{1,\varepsilon} \to \bar{u}_1, \qquad u_{2,\varepsilon} \to \bar{u}_2 \qquad strongly \ in \ L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N), \ and \ H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

Moreover,

$$-\Delta \bar{u}_i \leq 0 \quad in \ \mathbb{R}^N, \quad -\Delta \bar{u}_i = 0 \quad in \ \Omega_{\bar{u}_i} \quad and \quad \bar{u}_1 \cdot \bar{u}_2 \equiv 0.$$
^(5.2)

Proof. Observe that, since u_1 is Lipschitz continuous and $0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_1}$ then, in each compact $K \in \mathbb{R}^N$,

$$|u_{1,\varepsilon}(x)| = |u_{1,\varepsilon}(x) - u_{1,\varepsilon}(0)| \le L|x| \le C, \qquad |\nabla u_{1,\varepsilon}(x)| = |\nabla u_1(\varepsilon x)| \le C,$$

and the same for $u_{2,\varepsilon}$. Hence, the sequences are bounded in $H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and, by Ascoli-Arzelà's theorem, the blowup sequences converge locally uniformly, up to pass to a subsequence, and also weakly in $H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. On the other hand,

$$-\Delta u_{i,\varepsilon} \leq \varepsilon^2 \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i}) u_{i,\varepsilon} \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^N, \quad -\Delta u_{i,\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^2 \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i}) u_{i,\varepsilon} \text{ in } \Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}} \quad \text{ and } \quad u_{1,\varepsilon} \cdot u_{2,\varepsilon} \equiv 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^N,$$

which shows (5.2). The only thing left to prove is the strong H^1_{loc} -limit of blowup sequences. For that, we follow [47, Lemmas 3.7 and 3.11] (see also [41, Step 5 of the proof of Theorem 4.1] or [42, Lemma 7.4]). We know that

$$\mu_{i,\varepsilon} := \Delta u_{i,\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^2 \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i}) u_{i,\varepsilon}, \quad \bar{\mu}_i := \Delta \bar{u}_i$$

are positive Radon measures, concentrated on $\partial \Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}$ and $\partial \Omega_{\bar{u}_i}$, respectively. Let R > 0 and take φ to be a smooth cutoff function such that $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$, $\varphi = 1$ in B_R , $\varphi = 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_{2R}$. Then

$$\mu_{i,\varepsilon}(B_R) \le \int_{B_{2R}} \varphi \, d\mu_{i,\varepsilon} = \int_{B_{2R}} -\nabla u_{i,\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi + \varepsilon^2 \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i}) u_{i,\varepsilon} \varphi \, dx \le C$$

and, by testing the equation $-\Delta(\bar{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_i) = \varepsilon^2 \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}) u_{i,\varepsilon} - \mu_{i,\varepsilon} + \bar{\mu}_i$ by $(u_{i,\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_i)$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_R} |\nabla(u_{i,\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_i)|^2 &\leq \int_{B_{2R}} |\nabla(u_{i,\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_i)|^2 \varphi = -\int_{B_{2R}} (\nabla(u_{i,\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_i) \cdot \nabla\varphi)(u_{i,\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_i) \\ &+ \varepsilon^2 \lambda_1(\Omega_{i,\varepsilon}) \int_{B_{2R}} u_{i,\varepsilon}(u_{i,\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_i) \varphi - \int_{B_{2R}} (u_{i,\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_i) \varphi \, d\mu_{i,\varepsilon} \\ &+ \int_{B_{2R}} (u_{i,\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_i) \varphi \, d\bar{\mu}_i \to 0 \end{split}$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

The rest of the proof of Theorem 5.1 goes as follows:

(1) First, we prove that there exists a, b > 0 and $\nu \in \partial B_1$ such that

$$\bar{u}_1(x) = a(x \cdot \nu)_+, \qquad \bar{u}_2(x) = b(x \cdot \nu)_-$$

(i.e., \bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2 are two-plane functions). This is done by showing an Alt-Caffarelli-Friedman type monotonicity formula for $(u_{1,\varepsilon}, u_{2,\varepsilon})$ - see Proposition 5.7 -, which then provides that the Alt-Caffarelli-Friedman functional for the blowup limit (\bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2) is constant.

- (2) Then, using a suitable variation argument and using the fact that (u_1, u_2) minimizes problem (2.3), we deduce that a = b. Observe that, due to the form of the perturbed problem with functional J_{η} , we do not have any local minimality condition for the blowup limit (\bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2) , which makes this step particularly delicate.
- (3) Finally, we show that $a \ge m_{\eta}$, combining Proposition 4.3 with a continuity in x of an Alt-Caffarelli-Friedman type functional.

We proceed with these two steps in the following two subsection.

5.1. Alt-Caffarelli-Friedman type monotonicity formulas. Blowups are two-plane functions. In this subsection we prove an Alt-Caffarelli-Friedman type monotonicity formula for subsolutions of divergence-type operators (see Proposition 5.7 below), which we then apply to the blowup sequences $u_{1,\varepsilon}$, $u_{2,\varepsilon}$. Even though monotonicity formulas have been used in several contexts (see e.g. [4, 15, 16, 19, 21, 22, 28, 37, 44, 48], for a nonexhaustive list), we could not find in the literature a version we could use directly to our purposes. For that reason, we present here a proof. To start with, we recall the Friedland-Hayman inequality [31] (see also [4] or [14, Chapter 12]).

Lemma 5.3. Given $\omega \subset \partial B_1$ relatively open, let $\lambda_1(\omega)$ denote the first eigenvalue of the Dirichlet Laplace-Beltrami operator on ω , and let

$$\gamma(t) := -\frac{N-2}{2} + \sqrt{\left(\frac{N-2}{2}\right)^2 + t}, \text{ for } t > 0$$

Then

$$\gamma(\lambda_1(\omega_1)) + \gamma(\lambda_1(\omega_2)) \ge 2$$

for every $\omega_1, \omega_2 \subset \partial B_1$, relatively open, with $\omega_1 \cap \omega_2 = \emptyset$.

Moreover, equality is achieved if and only if each ω_i is a half-sphere.

Remark 5.4. The function γ arises from the equation $t = \gamma(N - 2 + \gamma)$, appearing when looking for harmonic functions with homogeneity γ on cones.

From now on we will mostly follow the notation and structure of [43], where a one-phase monotonicity formula was shown (check Proposition 2.5 therein), adapting it for the two-phase case (see Proposition 5.7 below).

By Lemmas 2.4 and 2.5, there exists $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ (independent of $\eta \leq 1$) such that

$$\lambda_1(\Omega_{u_i}) = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_i|^2 \le \bar{\lambda} \qquad \text{for every } i = 1, 2.$$
(5.3)

Next, let $\bar{R} = \bar{R}(\bar{\lambda}) > 0$ be such that the ball $B_{2\bar{R}} = B_{2\bar{R}}(0)$ has first Dirichlet eigenvalue equal to $\bar{\lambda}$. We denote by φ the corresponding positive eigenfunction, normalized in L^{∞} :

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta \varphi = \lambda \varphi & \text{in } B_{2\bar{R}}, \\ \varphi = 0 & \text{on } \partial B_{2\bar{R}}, \\ \varphi(0) = 1. \end{cases}$$
(5.4)

We recall that φ is radially symmetric and radially decreasing, attaining its only maximum at the origin. Lemma 5.5. We have

$$-\operatorname{div}\left(\varphi^{2}\nabla\left(\frac{u_{i}}{\varphi}\right)\right) \leq 0 \quad in \ B_{\bar{R}}, \ for \ i = 1, 2.$$

$$(5.5)$$

Proof. This is a direct computation (cf. [21, Lemma 9.1]):

$$-\operatorname{div}\left(\varphi^{2}\nabla\left(\frac{u_{i}}{\varphi}\right)\right) = -\operatorname{div}\left(\nabla u_{i}\varphi - u_{i}\nabla\varphi\right) = -\varphi\Delta u_{i} + u_{i}\Delta\varphi = u_{i}\varphi(\lambda_{1}(\Omega_{u_{i}}) - \bar{\lambda}) \leq 0,$$

ne last inequality follows from (5.3).

where the last inequality follows from (5.3).

Based on the fact that u_1, u_2 satisfy (5.5), we now prove an Alt-Caffarelli-Friedman-type monotonicity formula. We assume first that $N \geq 3$.

With that in mind, let $\Gamma_{\varphi} \in C^2(B_{3\bar{R}/2} \setminus \{0\})$ be the Dirichlet Green function of the operator $-\operatorname{div}(\varphi^2 \nabla \cdot)$ in $B_{3\bar{R}/2}$, that is, the solution to

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}\left(\varphi^2 \nabla \Gamma_{\varphi}\right) = \delta & \text{in } B_{3\bar{R}/2}, \\ \Gamma_{\varphi} = 0 & \text{on } \partial B_{3\bar{R}/2}, \end{cases}$$
(5.6)

where δ is the Dirac delta centered at the origin. This Green function is given explicitly by

$$\Gamma_{\varphi}(|x|) = \Gamma_{\varphi}(r) = (N-2) \int_{r}^{3\bar{R}/2} \frac{s^{1-N}}{\varphi^{2}(s)} ds, \qquad r = |x|,$$

and so, in particular, $\Gamma'_{\varphi}(r) = (2 - N) \frac{r^{2-r}}{\varphi^{2}(r)}$. We also define, for $0 < r \leq \bar{R}$,

$$\psi(r) := r^{N-2} \varphi^2(r) \Gamma_{\varphi}(r), \quad \psi(0) := \lim_{r \to 0^+} \psi(r) = 1.$$
(5.7)

We recall the following result.

Lemma 5.6 ([43, Lemma 2.4]). Let $N \ge 3$. We have:

- (1) $\psi(r) > 0$ for any $r \in [0, \bar{R}]$;
- (2) $\psi(3\bar{R}/2) = 0;$
- (3) there exists $C = C(N, \overline{\lambda}) > 0$ such that

$$|\psi(r) - 1| \le Cr$$
 for $r \in (0, 3\bar{R}/2)$, (5.8)

and in particular ψ is Lipschitz continuous in $B_{3\bar{R}/2}$.

Proposition 5.7 (Alt-Caffarelli-Friedman-type monotonicity formula). Let $N \ge 3$, and let $w_1, w_2 \in$ $C(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ be nonnegative functions such that $w_1 \cdot w_2 \equiv 0$, and

$$-\operatorname{div}\left(\varphi^{2}\nabla w_{i}\right) \leq 0 \quad in \ B_{\bar{R}} \quad for \ i = 1, 2.$$

$$(5.9)$$

Then there exist C = C(N) > 0 and $\tilde{r} = \tilde{r}(N) \in (0, \bar{R})$ such that the function

$$\Psi(w_1, w_2, r) := e^{Cr} \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{\psi(|x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} |\nabla w_1|^2 \cdot \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{\psi(|x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} |\nabla w_2|^2$$
$$= e^{Cr} \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \varphi^2 \Gamma_{\varphi} |\nabla w_1|^2 \cdot \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \varphi^2 \Gamma_{\varphi} |\nabla w_2|^2.$$
(5.10)

is nondecreasing in $r \in (0, \tilde{r})$.

Proof. We follow closely the computations in the proof of [43, Proposition 2.5], to which we refer to for more details.

Step 1. Let $i \in \{1, 2\}$. By (formally) using $\Gamma_{\varphi} w_i \ge 0$ as test function in (5.9), and $w_i^2/2$ as test function in (5.6), we see that

$$\int_{B_r} \frac{\psi(|x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} |\nabla w_i|^2 = \int_{B_r} \varphi^2 \Gamma_{\varphi} |\nabla w_i|^2 \leq \int_{\partial B_r} \varphi^2 \Gamma_{\varphi} w_i(\partial_{\nu} w_i) - \int_{B_r} \langle \varphi^2 \nabla(\frac{w_i^2}{2}), \nabla \Gamma_{\varphi} \rangle \\
= \int_{\partial B_r} \varphi^2 \Gamma_{\varphi} w_i(\partial_{\nu} w_i) - \int_{\partial B_r} \varphi^2 (\partial_{\nu} \Gamma_{\varphi}) \frac{w_i^2}{2} - \frac{w_i^2(0)}{2} \\
\leq \int_{\partial B_r} \left(\varphi^2 \Gamma_{\varphi} w_i(\partial_{\nu} w_i) - \frac{1}{2} w_i^2 \varphi^2 (\partial_{\nu} \Gamma_{\varphi}) \right) = \int_{\partial B_r} \left(\frac{\psi(r)}{r^{N-2}} w_i(\partial_{\nu} w_i) + \frac{N-2}{2r^{N-1}} w^2 \right) \tag{5.11}$$

Step 2. Denote $\Psi(w_1, w_2, r)$ by $\Psi(r)$. We compute the logarithmic derivative of Ψ :

$$\frac{d}{dr}\log\Psi(r) = C - \frac{4}{r} + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\int_{\partial B_{r}} \frac{\psi(|x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} |\nabla w_{i}|^{2}}{\int_{B_{r}} \frac{\psi(|x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} |\nabla w_{i}|^{2}} \ge C - \frac{4}{r} + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\frac{\psi(r)}{r^{N-2}} \int_{\partial B_{r}} |\nabla w_{i}|^{2}}{\int_{\partial B_{r}} \left(\frac{\psi(r)}{r^{N-2}} w_{i}(\partial_{\nu}w_{i}) + \frac{N-2}{2r^{N-1}} w_{i}^{2}\right)}$$

For i = 1, 2, let $v_i = v_i^{(r)} := w_i(rx) : \partial B_1 \to \mathbb{R}$ and $\omega_{i,r} := \{x \in \partial B_1 : v_i^{(r)}(x) > 0\}$. Observe that $\omega_{1,r} \cap \omega_{2,r} = \emptyset$. Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dr} \log \Psi(r) &\geq C - \frac{4}{r} + \frac{\psi(r)}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\int_{\omega_{i,r}} |\nabla v_i|^2}{\int_{\omega_{i,r}} \left(\psi(r)v_i(\partial_{\nu}v_i) + \frac{N-2}{2}v_i^2\right)} \\ &= C - \frac{4}{r} + \frac{1}{r\psi(r)} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\int_{\omega_{i,r}} \left(\psi^2(r)(\partial_{\nu}v_i)^2 + \psi^2(r)|\nabla_{\theta}v_i|^2\right)}{\int_{\omega_{i,r}} \left(\psi(r)v_i(\partial_{\nu}v_i) + \frac{N-2}{2}v_i^2\right)} \\ &\geq C - \frac{4}{r} + \frac{1}{r\psi(r)} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\int_{\omega_{i,r}} \left(\psi^2(r)(\partial_{\nu}v_i)^2 + \psi^2(r)\lambda_1(\omega_{i,r})v_i^2\right)}{\int_{\omega_{i,r}} \left(\psi(r)v_i(\partial_{\nu}v_i) + \frac{N-2}{2}v_i^2\right)}, \end{split}$$

where $\lambda_1(\omega_{i,r})$ denotes the first eigenvalue of the Dirichlet Laplace-Beltrami operator on $\omega_{i,r}$. Since

$$\int_{\omega_{i,r}} \left(\psi(r) v_i(\partial_\nu v_i) + \frac{N-2}{2} v_i^2 \right) \le \int_{\omega_{i,r}} \left(\frac{\psi^2(r)}{2a(N-2)} (\partial_\nu v_i)^2 + \frac{(N-2)(a+1)}{2} v_i^2 \right),$$

by choosing a > 0 such that

$$\frac{(N-2)(a+1)}{2} = \frac{\psi^2(r)\lambda_1(\omega_r)}{2a(N-2)} \iff a = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{N-2}\sqrt{\left(\frac{N-2}{2}\right)^2} + \psi^2(r)\lambda_1(\omega_r) = \frac{\gamma(\lambda_1(\omega_r)\psi^2(r))}{N-2}$$

where the function $\gamma(\cdot)$ is as in Lemma 5.3,

$$\frac{d}{dr}\log\Psi(r) \ge C - \frac{4}{r} + \frac{2}{r\psi(r)}\sum_{\substack{i=1\\27}}^{2}\gamma\left(\psi^2(r)\lambda_1(\omega_{i,r})\right)$$

$$= \frac{2}{r} \left(-2 + \frac{C}{2}r + \frac{1}{\psi(r)} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \gamma \left(\psi^2(r) \lambda_1(\omega_{i,r}) \right) \right).$$
(5.12)

Step 3. Observe that

$$\begin{aligned} |\gamma\left(\psi^{2}(r)\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r})\right) - \gamma(\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r}))| &= \frac{|\psi^{2}(r) - 1|\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r})}{\sqrt{\left(\frac{N-2}{2}\right)^{2} + \psi^{2}(r)\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r})} + \sqrt{\left(\frac{N-2}{2}\right)^{2} + \lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r})}} \\ &\leq \frac{|\psi^{2}(r) - 1|}{\psi(r) + 1} \frac{\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r})}{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r})}} = |\psi(r) - 1| \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r})}}{\gamma(\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r}))} \gamma(\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r})) \\ &\leq Cr\gamma(\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r})), \end{aligned}$$

using the fact that $t \in \mathbb{R}^+ \mapsto \sqrt{t}/\gamma(t)$ is bounded, combined with (5.8). Therefore there exists $C_1 > 0$ such that, for r > 0 small,

$$\frac{\gamma(\psi^2(r)\lambda_1(\omega_{i,r}))}{\psi(r)} \ge \frac{\gamma(\lambda_1(\omega_{1,r}))(1-Cr)}{1+Cr} \ge \gamma(\lambda_1(\omega_{1,r}))(1-C_1r).$$

Going back to (5.12) and using Lemma 5.3 we have, for small r,

$$\frac{d}{dr}\log\Psi(r) \ge \frac{2}{r}\left(-2 + \frac{C}{2}r + \sum_{i=1}^{2}\gamma(\lambda_{1}(\omega_{i,r}))(1 - C_{1}r)\right)$$
$$\ge \frac{2}{r}\left(-2 + \frac{C}{2}r + 2(1 - C_{1}r)\right) = 2\left(\frac{C}{2} - 2C_{1}\right),$$

which is positive by choosing $C > 4C_1$.

Lemma 5.8. Let \bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2 be the blowup limits as in Lemma 5.2. Then

$$\frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{|\nabla \bar{u}_1|^2}{|x|^{N-2}} \cdot \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{|\nabla \bar{u}_2|}{|x|^{N-2}} \equiv \gamma,$$
(5.13)

for $\gamma := \Psi(u_1/\varphi, u_2/\varphi, 0^+) := \lim_{r \to 0^+} \Psi(u_1/\varphi, u_2/\varphi, r) > 0$. In particular, (\bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2) is a two plane configuration:

$$\bar{u}_1(x) = a(x \cdot \nu)_+, \qquad \bar{u}_2(x) = b(x \cdot \nu)_-,$$

for some $a, b \ge 0$ with $ab = \gamma$, and $\nu \in \partial B_1$.

Proof. We aim to apply Proposition 5.7 to the functions $w_i = u_i/\varphi$. First, we make a change of variable so that

$$\begin{split} & e^{C\varepsilon r} \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{\psi(|\varepsilon x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} \left| \nabla \left(\frac{u_{1,\varepsilon}}{\varphi(\varepsilon x)} \right) \right|^2 \, dx \cdot \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{\psi(|\varepsilon x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} \left| \nabla \left(\frac{u_{2,\varepsilon}}{\varphi(\varepsilon x)} \right) \right|^2 \, dx \\ &= e^{C\varepsilon r} \frac{1}{(\varepsilon r)^2} \int_{B_{\varepsilon r}} \frac{\psi(|x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} \left| \nabla \left(\frac{u_1}{\varphi} \right) \right|^2 \, dx \cdot \frac{1}{(\varepsilon r)^2} \int_{B_{\varepsilon r}} \frac{\psi(|x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} \left| \nabla \left(\frac{u_2}{\varphi} \right) \right|^2 \, dx = \Psi \left(\frac{u_1}{\varphi}, \frac{u_2}{\varphi}, \varepsilon r \right). \end{split}$$

By Proposition 5.7, there exists $\Psi(u_1/\varphi, u_2/\varphi, 0^+) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \Psi(u_1/\varphi, u_2/\varphi, \varepsilon r) \equiv \gamma \in [0, \infty)$. On the other hand, since $\frac{\bar{u}_{i,\varepsilon}}{\varphi(\varepsilon x)} \to \bar{u}_i$ strongly in $H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ (recall Lemma 5.2 and the fact that $\varphi(0) = 1$), then

$$e^{C\varepsilon r} \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{\psi(|\varepsilon x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} \left| \nabla \left(\frac{u_{1,\varepsilon}}{\varphi(\varepsilon x)} \right) \right|^2 \cdot \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{\psi(|\varepsilon x|)}{|x|^{N-2}} \left| \nabla \left(\frac{u_{2,\varepsilon}}{\varphi(\varepsilon x)} \right) \right|^2 \rightarrow \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{\left| \nabla \bar{u}_1 \right|^2}{|x|^{N-2}} \cdot \frac{1}{r^2} \int_{B_r} \frac{\left| \nabla \bar{u}_2 \right|}{|x|^{N-2}} \left| \nabla \left(\frac{u_{2,\varepsilon}}{\varphi(\varepsilon x)} \right) \right|^2 \right|^2$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0$. In conclusion, the functional of the classical Alt-Caffarelli-Friedman monotonicity formula is constant in r, for the functions \bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2 . Then, by [4] (see also [14, p. 224]), there exists $a, b \ge 0$ and $\nu \in \partial B_1$ such that $\bar{u}_1(x) = a(x \cdot \nu)_+, \ \bar{u}_2(x) = b(x \cdot \nu)_-$. By going back to (5.13), we deduce that $ab = \gamma$.

Lemma 5.9. Under the notations of Lemma 5.2, for each i = 1, 2 we have

$$\chi_{\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}} \to \chi_{\Omega_{\bar{u}_i}} \quad a.e. \ in \mathbb{R}^N, \ strongly \ in \ L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

Proof. We adapt to our context the proof of the second part of [42, Lemma 7.4]. For each i = 1, 2, by Lemma 5.8, either $\partial \Omega_{\bar{u}_i} = \emptyset$ (when $\bar{u}_i \equiv 0$) or $\partial \Omega_{\bar{u}_i}$ is the hyperplane $\{x \cdot \nu = 0\}$. We prove that, in any case, $\chi_{\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}} \to \chi_{\Omega_{\bar{u}_i}}$ pointwise in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{x \cdot \nu = 0\}$. Fix i = 1, 2. For $x_0 \in \Omega_{\bar{u}_i}$, by the continuity of \bar{u}_i there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\bar{u}_i > 0$ in $B_{\delta}(x_0)$. Since $u_{i,\varepsilon} \to \bar{u}_i$ strongly in $L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, then $u_{i,\varepsilon}(x_0) > 0$ for $\varepsilon > 0$ small, and

$$\chi_{\Omega_{u_i}}(x_0) = 1 \to 1 = \chi_{\Omega_{\bar{u}_i}}(x_0)$$

Now let $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \overline{\Omega}_{u_i}$. In particular, $\overline{u}_i = 0$ in $\overline{B}_{\delta}(x_0)$, for some $\delta > 0$. Assume, in view of a contradiction, that $\overline{u}_{i,\varepsilon}(x_0) > 0$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

Then, using the nondegeneracy property of u_i in the form of Remark 2.12, there exists a universal constant C > 0 and $x_{\varepsilon} \in B_{\delta}(x_0)$ such that

$$u_{i,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) = \|u_{i,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\delta}(x_0))} \ge C\delta.$$

Then, as $\varepsilon \to 0$ and up to pass to a subsequence, $x_{\varepsilon} \to x_0 \in \overline{B}_{\delta}(x_0)$, and by uniform convergence of blowup sequences (Lemma 5.2),

$$\bar{u}_i(x_0) \ge C\delta > 0,$$

a contradiction. Therefore, the sequence of characteristic functions converges a.e. in \mathbb{R}^N , while the L^1 convergence is a direct consequence of Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem.

Lemma 5.10. Under the notations of Lemma 5.2, we have $\bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2 \neq 0$.

Proof. Let i = 1, 2. By Lemma 2.13, there exist a constant $\xi > 0$ such that, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small, we have

$$\xi \leq \frac{|\Omega_{\bar{u}_i} \cap B_{\varepsilon}(0)|}{|B_{\varepsilon}(0)|} = \frac{|\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}} \cap B_1|}{|B_1|}.$$

On the other hand, by Lemma 5.9, $|\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}} \cap B_1| \to |\Omega_{\bar{u}_i} \cap B_1|$, and so $\bar{u}_i \neq 0$.

5.2. Conclusion of the classification of blowup limits at two-phase points. Proof of Theorem 5.1. So far we have show that $\bar{u}_1 = a(x \cdot \nu)_+$, $\bar{u}_2 = b(x \cdot \nu)_-$, for a, b > 0 such that $ab = \gamma := \Psi(u_1/\varphi, u_2/\varphi, 0^+)$, together with strong convergences of blowup sequences. In order to conclude the proof of Theorem 5.1, it remains to show that a = b.

Let R > 0. We show that $\bar{u}_1 - \bar{u}_2$ is harmonic in B_R . Take $0 \le \varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(B_R)$ and define the blowdown sequence

$$\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \varepsilon \varphi\left(\frac{x}{\varepsilon}\right), \qquad \varepsilon > 0,$$

satisfying supp $(\varphi_{\varepsilon}) \subset B_{\varepsilon R}$ and the following scaling properties

$$\|\varphi_{\varepsilon}\|_{1} = \varepsilon^{N+1} \|\varphi\|_{1}, \ \|\varphi_{\varepsilon}\|_{2}^{2} = \varepsilon^{N+2} \|\varphi\|_{2}^{2}, \ \|\nabla\varphi_{\varepsilon}\|_{2}^{2} = \varepsilon^{N} \|\nabla\varphi\|_{2}^{2} \text{ and } |\Omega_{\varphi_{\varepsilon}}| = \varepsilon^{N} |\Omega_{\varphi}|; \tag{5.14}$$

Since $x_0 = 0 \in (\partial \Omega_{u_1} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_2} \cap \Omega) \setminus \bigcup_{\ell \neq 1,2} \overline{\Omega}_{u_\ell}$, the for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we have $B_{\varepsilon R} \subset \Omega \setminus \bigcup_{\ell \neq 1,2} \overline{\Omega}_{u_\ell}$. We also observe that:

$$\|u_i\|_1 = \varepsilon^{N+1} \|u_{i,\varepsilon}\|_1, \ 1 = \|u_i\|_2^2 = \varepsilon^{N+2} \|u_{i,\varepsilon}\|_2^2, \ \|\nabla u_i\|_2^2 = \varepsilon^N \|\nabla u_{i,\varepsilon}\|_2^2 \text{ and } |\Omega_{u_i}| = \varepsilon^N |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}|.$$
(5.15)

Lemma 5.11. Under the previous notations, there exists C > 0 (depending on φ) such that

$$\begin{split} 0 \leq & 2t \int_{B_R} \nabla(u_{1,\varepsilon} - u_{2,\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla \varphi + Ct\varepsilon^2 + t^2 \|\nabla \varphi\|_2^2 \\ & + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} \left[f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^+}| + \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+}| \right) - f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right) \right] \end{split}$$

and

$$0 \leq 2t \int_{B_R} \nabla(u_{2,\varepsilon} - u_{1,\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla\varphi + Ct\varepsilon^2 + t^2 \|\nabla\varphi\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} \left[f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{2,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^+}| + \varepsilon^N \sum_{i \neq 2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+}| \right) - f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right) \right]$$

for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small (depending on R > 0) and $t \in (0,1)$. Here, for each i, $\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} := u_{i,\varepsilon} - \sum_{j \neq i} u_{j,\varepsilon}$.

Proof. We prove only the first inequality, as the other case is analogous. Using the minimality of u_1,\ldots,u_k , we have

$$J_{\eta}(u_1,\ldots,u_k) \leq J_{\eta}(u_{1,t,\varepsilon},\ldots,u_{k,t,\varepsilon}),$$

where, as in (2.9),

$$u_{t,\varepsilon} = (u_{1,t,\varepsilon}, \dots, u_{k,t,\varepsilon}) := \left((\hat{u}_1 + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^+, (\hat{u}_2 - t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^+, \dots, (\hat{u}_k - t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^+ \right),$$

recalling that $\hat{u}_i = u_i - \sum_{j \neq i} u_j$, for $i = 1, \ldots, k$. This yields

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{i}|^{2} + f_{\eta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i}}| \right) \leq \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + f_{\eta} \left(|\Omega_{u_{1,t,\varepsilon}}| + \sum_{i=2}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,t,\varepsilon}}| \right).$$

By scaling the inequality above and using both (5.14) and (5.15) we obtain

$$\varepsilon^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} |\nabla u_{i,\varepsilon}|^{2} + f_{\eta} \left(\varepsilon^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right) \leq \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{i} - t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}\|_{2}^{2}} + f_{\eta} \left(\varepsilon^{N} |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^{+}}| + \varepsilon^{N} \sum_{i=2}^{k} |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^{+}}| \right), \quad (5.16)$$

where $\Omega_{\varepsilon} = \Omega/\varepsilon$. By [6, Lemma A.1], since $||u_i||_2 = 1$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, k$, there exists $C_1 > 0$ such that, for t > 0 small,

$$\frac{1}{\|(\hat{u}_1 + t\varphi)^+\|_2^2} \le 1 - 2t \int_{\Omega} u_1 \varphi_{\varepsilon} + C_1 \|\varphi_{\varepsilon}\|_2^2 t^2, \quad \frac{1}{\|(\hat{u}_i - t\varphi)^+\|_2^2} \le 1 + 2t \int_{\Omega} u_1 \varphi_{\varepsilon} + C_1 \|\varphi_{\varepsilon}\|_2^2 t^2 \ (i \ge 2),$$
and so there exists C_2 (depending on φ) such that

and so there exists C_2 (depending on φ) such that

$$\frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}|^{2}}{\|(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}\|^{2}} \leq \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}|^{2} \left(1 - 2t\varepsilon^{N+2} \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} u_{1,\varepsilon}\varphi + C_{1}t^{2}\varepsilon^{N+2} \|\varphi\|^{2}_{2}\right) \\
= \varepsilon^{N} \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^{+}|^{2} - 2t\varepsilon^{N+2} \int_{B_{R}} u_{1,\varepsilon}\varphi \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}|^{2} \\
+ C_{1}t^{2}\varepsilon^{N+2} \|\varphi\|^{2}_{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1} + t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^{+}|^{2} \\
\leq \varepsilon^{N} \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^{+}|^{2} + C_{2}t\varepsilon^{N+2},$$
(5.17)

for every $t \in (0,1)$. Here, we have used again (5.14), (5.15), as well as the locally uniform convergence of $u_{1,\varepsilon}$. Similarly, for $i \geq 2$,

$$\frac{\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(\hat{u}_i - t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^+|^2}{\|(\hat{u}_i - t\varphi_{\varepsilon})^+\|_2^2} \le \varepsilon^N \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+|^2 + C_2 t \varepsilon^{N+2}.$$
(5.18)

Therefore, by plugging (5.17) and (5.18) into (5.16), and given that

$$|\nabla(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^+|^2 + \sum_{i=2}^k |\nabla(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+|^2 = |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)|^2,$$

we have

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} |\nabla u_{i,\varepsilon}|^{2} &\leq \varepsilon^{N} \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} |\nabla (\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)|^{2} + 2C_{2} t\varepsilon^{N+2} \\ &+ f_{\eta} \left(\varepsilon^{N} |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^{+}}| + \varepsilon^{N} \sum_{i=2}^{k} |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^{+}}| \right) - f_{\eta} \left(\varepsilon^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right). \end{split}$$

Dividing both sides by ε^N , and using the fact that

$$\int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} |\nabla(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} |\nabla u_{i,\varepsilon}|^2 + 2t \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} \nabla \hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi + t^2 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \varphi|^2$$
30

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{k}\int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}}|\nabla u_{i,\varepsilon}|^{2}+2t\int_{B_{R}}\nabla(u_{1,\varepsilon}-u_{2,\varepsilon})\cdot\nabla\varphi+t^{2}\int_{\Omega}|\nabla\varphi|^{2},$$

for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we obtain the desired conclusion.

Lemma 5.12. Under the previous notations, for a.e. $t \in (0,1)$ and $\ell = 1, 2$, we have

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} \left[f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{\ell,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^+}| + \varepsilon^N \sum_{i \neq \ell}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+}| \right) - f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right) \right] \to 0,$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Proof. We present the proof for $\ell = 1$, as for $\ell = 2$ is analogous. First, recall that, from (5.15) and Lemma 2.9, we have $\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| = \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_i}| \le a$, which yields to

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right) = \frac{\eta}{\varepsilon^N} \left(\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| - a \right) = \eta \left(\sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| - \frac{a}{\varepsilon^N} \right).$$

Let us denote $m_{1,\varepsilon} = m_{1,\varepsilon}(t) := \varepsilon^N |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon}+t\varphi)^+}| + \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon}-t\varphi)^+}|$. We have two possibilities, either $m_{1,\varepsilon} \le \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}|$ or $m_{1,\varepsilon} > \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}|$.

Case 1: If $m_{1,\varepsilon} \leq \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}|$, then

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^+}| + \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+}| \right) &= \frac{\eta}{\varepsilon^N} \left(\varepsilon^N |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^+}| + \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+}| - a \right) \\ &= \eta \left(|\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^+}| + \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+}| - \frac{a}{\varepsilon^N} \right), \end{split}$$

and hence

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} f_\eta(m_{1,\varepsilon}) - \frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} f_\eta\left(\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}|\right) = \eta\left(|\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon}+t\varphi)^+}| + \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon}-t\varphi)^+}| - \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}|\right).$$

Case 2: On the other hand, if $m_{1,\varepsilon} > \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}|$, then from Lemma 2.1-(2), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} f_\eta \left(m_{1,\varepsilon} \right) &- \frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right) \le \frac{1}{\varepsilon^N \eta} \left(\varepsilon^N |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^+}| + \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+}| - \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{\eta} \left(|\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)^+}| + \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+}| - \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right). \end{aligned}$$

In both cases, we need to examine the quantity

$$\tilde{m}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) := |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon}+t\varphi)^+}| + \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon}-t\varphi)^+}| - \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{\bar{u}_{i,\varepsilon}}|,$$

and show that, for a.e. t > 0, $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \tilde{m}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) = 0$, so that the claim of the lemma holds. Observe that, since $\operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset B_R \subset \Omega \setminus \bigcup_{\ell \ge 3}^k \Omega_{u_{\ell,\varepsilon}}$, we have $\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t\varphi)^+} = \Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}$, for $i = 3, \ldots, k$. Moreover,

$$\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon}+t\varphi)^+} = \left(\Omega_{(u_{1,\varepsilon}-u_{2,\varepsilon}+t\varphi)^+} \cap B_R\right) \cup \left(\Omega_{u_{1,\varepsilon}} \cap (B_R)^c\right),$$

and

$$\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{2,\varepsilon}-t\varphi)^+} = \left(\Omega_{(u_{2,\varepsilon}-u_{1,\varepsilon}-t\varphi))^+} \cap B_R\right) \cup \left(\Omega_{u_{2,\varepsilon}} \cap (B_R)^c\right)$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{m}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) &= |\Omega_{(u_{1,\varepsilon}-u_{2,\varepsilon}+t\varphi)^{+}} \cap B_{R}| + |\Omega_{u_{1,\varepsilon}} \cap (B_{R})^{c}| + |\Omega_{(u_{2,\varepsilon}-u_{1,\varepsilon}-t\varphi)^{+}} \cap B_{R}| + |\Omega_{u_{2,\varepsilon}} \cap (B_{R})^{c}| \\ &+ \sum_{i=3}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| - \sum_{i=1}^{k} |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \\ &= |\Omega_{(u_{1,\varepsilon}-u_{2,\varepsilon}+t\varphi)^{+}} \cap B_{R}| + |\Omega_{(u_{2,\varepsilon}-u_{1,\varepsilon}-t\varphi)^{+}} \cap B_{R}| - |\Omega_{u_{1,\varepsilon}} \cap B_{R}| - |\Omega_{u_{2,\varepsilon}} \cap B_{R}| \\ &= |\Omega_{(u_{1,\varepsilon}-u_{2,\varepsilon}+t\varphi)^{+}} \cap B_{R}| + |\Omega_{(u_{1,\varepsilon}-u_{2,\varepsilon}+t\varphi)^{-}} \cap B_{R}| - |\Omega_{u_{1,\varepsilon}} \cap B_{R}| - |\Omega_{u_{2,\varepsilon}} \cap B_{R}| \end{split}$$

$$= |\{x \in B_R : (u_{1,\varepsilon} - u_{2,\varepsilon} + t\varphi)(x) \neq 0\}| - |\Omega_{u_{1,\varepsilon}} \cap B_R| - |\Omega_{u_{2,\varepsilon}} \cap B_R|.$$

By passing the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$, and using Lemmas 5.8 and 5.9, we obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \tilde{m}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) = |\{x \in B_R : (a(x \cdot \nu)^+ - b(x \cdot \nu)^- + t\varphi)(x) \neq 0\}| - |B_R|$$
$$= |\{x \in B_R : a(x \cdot \nu)^+ - b(x \cdot \nu)^- + t\varphi(x) = 0\}|.$$

Finally, since $\varphi \geq 0$,

$$\{x \in B_R : a(x \cdot \nu)^+ - b(x \cdot \nu)^- + t\varphi(x) = 0\} = \{x \in B_R : a(x \cdot \nu)^+ - b(x \cdot \nu)^- = -t\varphi(x)\}$$

$$\subseteq \{x \in B_R : (x \cdot \nu) < 0, \ t\varphi(x) = b(x \cdot \nu)\} \cup \{x \in B_R \mid x \cdot \nu = 0\}$$

$$= \left\{x \in B_R \mid (x \cdot \nu) < 0, \ \frac{\varphi(x)}{(x \cdot \nu)} = \frac{b}{t}\right\} \cup \{x \in B_R : x \cdot \nu = 0\}.$$

Since $|\{x \in B_R : x \cdot \nu = 0\}| = 0$ and, by Sard's Theorem, $\left|\left\{x \in B_R : (x \cdot \nu) < 0, \frac{\varphi(x)}{(x \cdot \nu)} = \frac{b}{t}\right\}\right| = 0$ for a.e. t > 0, the conclusion follows.

Lemma 5.13. Let \bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2 be as in Lemma 5.2. Then

$$\Delta(\bar{u}_1 - \bar{u}_2) = 0 \quad in \ \mathbb{R}^N$$

and, in particular, a = b.

Proof. By Lemma 5.12, there exists $t_n \to 0$ such that, for each n,

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} \left[f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t_n \varphi)^+}| + \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t_n \varphi)^+}| \right) - f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right) \right] \to 0$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0$. By Lemma 5.11,

$$0 \leq 2t_n \int_{B_R} \nabla(u_{1,\varepsilon} - u_{2,\varepsilon}) \cdot \nabla\varphi + Ct_n \varepsilon^2 + t^2 \|\nabla\varphi\|_2^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^N} \left[f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{1,\varepsilon} + t_n \varphi)^+}| + \varepsilon^N \sum_{i=2}^k |\Omega_{(\hat{u}_{i,\varepsilon} - t_n \varphi)^+}| \right) - f_\eta \left(\varepsilon^N \sum_{i=1}^k |\Omega_{u_{i,\varepsilon}}| \right) \right]$$

By letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, and using the convergences of the blowup sequences provided by Lemma 5.2, we have

$$0 \le 2t_n \int_{B_R} \nabla(\bar{u}_1 - \bar{u}_2) \cdot \nabla\varphi + t_n^2 \|\nabla\varphi\|_2^2.$$

Finally, we divide the inequality above by t_n and let $n \to \infty$ to see that

$$0 \le \int_{B_R} \nabla(\bar{u}_1 - \bar{u}_2) \cdot \nabla\varphi$$

Since R > 0 and φ are arbitrary, this means that

$$-\Delta(\bar{u}_1 - \bar{u}_2) \ge 0 \quad \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^N$$

By doing a similar computation, we can also show that

$$-\Delta(\bar{u}_2 - \bar{u}_1) \ge 0 \quad \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^N,$$

hence $\bar{u}_1 - \bar{u}_2$ is harmonic in \mathbb{R}^N .

Conclusion of the proof of Theorem 5.1. This result is now a direct consequence of Lemmas 5.2, 5.9, 5.10 and 5.13. $\hfill \Box$

Finally, we relate the information obtained at one-phase reduced boundaries (Proposition 4.3) with the one obtained at all two-phase points (Theorem 5.1).

Proposition 5.14. Let $i \neq j$ and take $x_0 \in \Gamma_{TP}(\partial \Omega_i) \cap \Gamma_{TP}(\partial \Omega_j)$. Then $m(x_0) \geq m_\eta$, where m_η is the constant appearing in (4.4).

Proof. Take $x_0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_j} \cap \Omega$, and let $x_1 \in \partial^* \Omega_{u_l}$ be a one-phase point for some $l \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ -which exists, by Lemma 4.1. Take the blowup sequences

$$u_{i,\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{u_i(x_0 + \varepsilon x)}{\varepsilon}, \quad u_{l,\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{u_l(x_1 + \varepsilon x)}{\varepsilon}.$$

By Propositions 4.2 and 4.3, there exists $\nu_{u_l}(x_1)$, the measure theoretical inner normal to the boundary of $\partial \Omega_{u_l}$ at x_1 , and

$$u_{l,\varepsilon} \to m_{\eta}(x \cdot \nu_{u_l}(x_1))_+ \quad \text{in } L^{\infty}_{loc} \cap H^1_{loc}, \qquad \frac{\Omega_{u_l} - x_1}{\varepsilon} \to \{x \cdot \nu_{u_l}(x_1) > 0\} \quad \text{a.e. and } L^1_{loc}.$$

On the other hand, by Theorem 5.1, up to considering a subsequence, there exists $\nu(x_0) \in \partial \Omega_{u_i}$ such that

$$u_{i,\varepsilon} \to m(x_0)(x \cdot \nu(x_0))_+ \quad \text{in } L^{\infty}_{loc} \cap H^1_{loc}, \qquad \frac{\Omega_{u_i} - x_0}{\varepsilon} \to \{x \cdot \nu(x_0) > 0\} \quad \text{a.e. and } L^1_{loc},$$

(observe that while $\nu(x_0)$ may depend on the sequence, this is not the case for $m(x_0)$). Now we simply repeat the same procedure of the proof of Proposition 4.3, considering a diffeomorphism that pushes inward Ω_{u_i} at x_0 (using $\nu(x_0)$ as normal) and pushes outward Ω_{u_l} at x_1 (using $\nu_{u_l}(x_1)$). More precisely, we set

$$\tau_{\rho,\kappa}(x) = \tau(x) := x + \kappa\rho\varphi\left(\frac{|x-x_0|}{\rho}\right)\nu(x_0)\chi_{B_\rho(x_0)\cap\Omega_{u_i}} - \kappa\rho\varphi\left(\frac{|x-x_1|}{\rho}\right)\nu_{u_l}(x_1)\chi_{B_\rho(x_1)}.$$

and consider $\tilde{u}_{\rho,i}(z) = u_i(\tau^{-1}(z)), \ \tilde{u}_{\rho,l}(z) = u_l(\tau^{-1}(z))$. For sufficiently small κ, ρ , we use

 $(u_1,\ldots,\widetilde{u}_{\rho,i},\ldots,\widetilde{u}_{\rho,l},\ldots,u_k)\in\overline{H}$

as a test function for J_{η} . By repeating the proof of Proposition 4.3 (which relies only on the convergence statements for blowup sequences!) we obtain this time

$$0 \le \kappa \rho^N C(\varphi)((m(x_0))^2 - (m_\eta)^2) + o(\rho^N) + \rho^N o(\kappa)$$

and so $m(x_0) \ge m_\eta$, as wanted.

6. Optimality conditions in the viscosity sense. Conclusion of the proof

From now on, we fix $\eta > 0$ small enough, and take an optimal vector $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ for problem (2.3), such that $(\Omega_{u_1}, \ldots, \Omega_{u_k})$ is an optimal partition of the original constrained optimal partition problem (1.1) (recall Remark 4.7). In this section, we show that (u_1, \ldots, u_k) satisfies, in the viscosity sense, suitable optimality conditions at the free boundary. This will allow to apply the regularity result of [24] at two-phase points, and the regularity result of [42] at one-phase points, concluding the proof of Theorem 1.1.

First of all, we introduce the notion of viscosity solution of a PDE.

Definition 6.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be an open set. We say that a continuous function $Q: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ touches from below *(resp. touches from above) a function* $w: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ at $x_0 \in \Omega$ if $Q(x_0) = w(x_0)$ and

 $Q(x) \le w(x),$ (resp. $Q(x) \ge w(x)),$ for all x in a neighborhood of x_0 .

Definition 6.2. We say that $Q: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is an admissible comparison function in Ω if

- $Q \in C^1(\overline{\{Q > 0\}} \cap \Omega) \cap C^1(\overline{\{Q < 0\}} \cap \Omega);$
- $Q \in C^2(\{Q > 0\} \cap \Omega) \cap C^2(\{Q < 0\} \cap \Omega);$
- $\partial \{Q > 0\} \cap \Omega$ and $\partial \{Q < 0\} \cap \Omega$ are smooth manifolds in Ω .

We start with the results for the one-phase points. Recall that m_{η} is the same constant of Proposition 4.3 and 5.14.

Proposition 6.3. Let (u_1, \ldots, u_k) be optimal for (2.3). Let $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ and $x_0 \in (\partial \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \bigcup_{j \neq i} \partial \Omega_{u_j}) \cap \Omega$ be an interior one-phase point. We have the following:

- (i) Suppose that Q is a comparison function and Q_+ touches u_i from below at x_0 , then $|\nabla Q_+(x_0)|^2 \le m_{\eta}$;
- (ii) Suppose that Q is a comparison function and Q_+ touches u_i from above at x_0 , then $|\nabla Q_+(x_0)|^2 \ge m_\eta$.

Moreover, $\Gamma_{OP}(\partial \Omega_i)$, that is the one-phase free boundary of $\Omega_{u_i} \cap \Omega$, can be decomposed in a regular part Reg_i and in a singular part Sing_i such that

• Reg_i is locally the graph of a $C^{1,\alpha}$ function for any $\alpha \in [0,1)$,

There exists a universal constant N^{*} ∈ {5,6,7} such that Sing_i is empty if N < N^{*}, discrete if N = N^{*}, and dim_H(Sing_i) ≤ N − N^{*} otherwise.

When the claim of Proposition 6.3 holds, we say that $|\nabla u_i|^2 = m_\eta$ on $(\partial \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \bigcup_{j \neq i} \partial \Omega_{u_j}) \cap \Omega$ in the sense of viscosity solutions.

Remark 6.4. The constant N^* is the lowest dimension at which there exists singular local minimizers for the Alt-Caffarelli one-phase functional in \mathbb{R}^N .

Proof. In view of Remark 2.10, we note that the set Ω_{u_i} is a solution to the shape optimization problem:

$$\min\left\{\lambda_1(\omega):\omega\subset\Omega\setminus\cup_{j\neq i}\overline{\omega}_j,\ |\omega|=a-\sum_{j\neq i}|\omega_j|\right\}.$$
(6.1)

Thanks to [42, Lemma 5.30] we deduce the claim with a certain constant $m_i > 0$ on the one-phase free boundary, namely $(\partial \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \bigcup_{j \neq i} \partial \Omega_{u_j}) \cap \Omega$. The fact that the constant m_i is exactly m_η (and does not depend on *i*) follows thanks to Proposition 4.3, and performing a blowup at a one-phase point of the reduced boundary. The last claim concerning the regular and singular part also follows from [42, Theorem 1.2].

We now focus on the two-phase points. Let (u_1, \ldots, u_k) be a solution for problem (2.3) and $x_0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_j} \setminus \bigcup_{l \neq i,j} \Omega_{u_l}$ be a two-phase point. Up to relabeling the indexes, we can assume that i = 1, j = 2. We denote $u = u_1 - u_2$ and since there are no triple points (and no two-phase points at the boundary of the box Ω), we take R > 0 sufficiently small such that $B_R(x_0) \subset \Omega \setminus \bigcup_{\ell \geq 3}^k \Omega_{u_\ell}$. We can now prove that, at two-phase points (branching and not branching), the following optimality conditions, in the sense of viscosity solutions, hold true:

$$|\nabla u_1|^2 \ge m_\eta, \quad |\nabla u_2|^2 \ge m_\eta, \quad \text{and} \quad |\nabla u_1|^2 - |\nabla u_2|^2 = 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega_{u_1} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_2} \cap \Omega,$$

where $m_{\eta} > 0$ is the constant from Proposition 5.14, see also Theorem 5.1. Let us state it in a more precise way.

Proposition 6.5. With the notation above, we have the following:

(i) If Q is a comparison function touching from below $u = u_1 - u_2$ at a two-phase point x_0 , then

$$|\nabla Q^{-}(x_0)|^2 \ge m_{\eta}, \quad and, \quad |\nabla Q^{+}(x_0)|^2 - |\nabla Q^{-}(x_0)|^2 \le 0.$$

(ii) If Q is a comparison function touching from above $u = u_1 - u_2$ at a two-phase point x_0 , then

$$|\nabla Q^+(x_0)|^2 \ge m_\eta$$
, and, $|\nabla Q^+(x_0)|^2 - |\nabla Q^-(x_0)|^2 \ge 0$.

Proof. This proof, since we now have the information on the behavior of the blowup limits at two-phase points (see Theorem 5.1), follows as [24, Lemma 2.5]. For the sake of completeness, we report here the proof of part (i) (the other case is analogous). Let $x_0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_1} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_2} \setminus \bigcup_{l \ge 3} \Omega_{u_l}$ and Q be an admissible function that touches $u = u_1 - u_2$ from below at x_0 . Let u_{x_0,r_n} and Q_{x_0,r_n} be blowup sequences of u and Q at x_0 . Then, up to extracting a subsequence, we can assume that u_{x_0,r_n} converges uniformly to a blowup limit of the form (see Theorem 5.1)

$$u_{\infty}(x) = m(x_0)(x \cdot \nu)^+ - m(x_0)(x \cdot \nu)^-,$$

for some $\nu \in \partial B_1$. Recall also from Proposition 5.14 that $m(x_0) \ge m_\eta$.

On the other hand, since Q^+ and Q^- are differentiable at x_0 (respectively in $\{Q > 0\}$ and $\{Q < 0\}$), we deduce that Q_{x_0,r_n} converges to the function

$$Q_{\infty}(x) = \left| \nabla Q^{+}(x_{0}) \right| (x \cdot \nu')_{+} - \left| \nabla Q^{-}(x_{0}) \right| (x \cdot \nu')_{-},$$

where $\nu' = |\nabla Q^+(x_0)|^{-1} \nabla Q^+(x_0) = -|\nabla Q^-(x_0)|^{-1} \nabla Q^-(x_0)$. Now since, Q_{∞} touches u_{∞} from below, we have that $\nu' = \nu$,

$$|\nabla Q^{+}(x_{0})|^{2} - |\nabla Q^{-}(x_{0})|^{2} \le 0$$
 and $|\nabla Q^{+}(x_{0})| \le m_{\eta}, |\nabla Q^{-}(x_{0})| \ge m_{\eta},$

thus (i) is proved.

We are now in position to prove the regularity result at two-phase points, again following [24] (where the most difficult step, namely the improvement of flatness, is proved).

Theorem 6.6. Let (u_1, \ldots, u_k) be a solution for problem (2.3) and $x_0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_i} \setminus \bigcup_{l \neq i,j} \Omega_{u_l}$ be a two-phase point. There exists $r_0 > 0$ (depending possibly also on x_0) such that $\partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{r_0}(x_0)$ and $\partial \Omega_{u_i} \cap B_{r_0}(x_0)$ are $C^{1,\alpha}$ graphs for all $\alpha \in [0, 1/2)$.

Proof. As usual, up to relabeling the indexes, we can assume that i = 1, j = 2. We denote $u = u_1 - u_2$ and since there are no triple points, we take R > 0 sufficiently small such that $B_R(x_0) \subset \Omega \setminus \bigcup_{\ell>3}^k \Omega_{u_\ell}$. We divide the proof in some steps.

Step 1. There is a unique blowup of u at x_0 . Moreover there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that for every open set $D' \in B_R(x_0)$ there is a constant C(D', N) > 0 such that, for every two-phase points $x_0, y_0 \in$ $(\partial \Omega_{u_1} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_2} \setminus \cup_{l \geq 3} \Omega_{u_l}) \cap D'$, we have

$$|m(x_0) - m(y_0)| \le C |x_0 - y_0|^{\alpha}$$
 and $|\nu(x_0) - \nu(y_0)| \le C_0 |x_0 - y_0|^{\alpha}$, (4.1)

where

$$m(x_0)(x \cdot \nu(x_0))^+ - m(x_0)(x \cdot \nu(x_0))^-$$
 and $m(y_0)(x \cdot \nu(y_0))^+ - m(y_0)(x \cdot \nu(y_0))^-$

denote the blowup limits of u at x_0 and y_0 respectively. In particular, $\left(\partial\Omega_{u_1} \cap \partial\Omega_{u_2} \setminus \bigcup_{l\geq 3}\Omega_{u_l}\right) \cap D'$ is locally a closed subset of the graph of a $C^{1,\alpha}$ function.

Proof of Step 1. This follows from the improvement of flatness result at two-phase points [24, Theorem 4.3].

Step 2. There are $C^{0,\alpha}$ continuous functions $m_1 : \partial \Omega_u^+ \to \mathbb{R}, m_2 : \partial \Omega_u^- \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $m_1 \geq 0$ $m_{\eta}, m_2 \geq m_{\eta}$, and u_1, u_2 are viscosity solutions of the one-phase problem

$$\Delta u_1 = \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_1})u_1$$
 in Ω_{u_1} , $|\nabla u_1| = m_1$ on $\partial \Omega_{u_1}$

and

$$-\Delta u_2 = \lambda_1(\Omega_{u_2})u_2 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega_{u_2}, \quad |\nabla u_2| = m_2 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega_{u_2}.$$

Proof of Step 2. We show the proof only for u_1 , being the other case analogous. We already know the equation satisfied by u_1 in Ω_{u_1} , thanks to Lemma 2.5. By [24, Theorem 4.3], we infer that for all two-phase points $x_0 \in D'$, we have

$$u_1(x) - m_1(x_0) (x - x_0) \cdot \nu(x_0) | \le C_0 |x - x_0|^{1+\gamma}, \qquad (6.2)$$

where $x \in B_{r_0}(x_0) \cap \Omega_{u_1}$, with $\gamma \in (0, 1/2)$, $0 < r_0 < R$ and $C_0 > 0$ depending only on D'. To conclude we only need to prove that $m_1 \in C^{0,\alpha}(\partial \Omega_{u_1})$. Since m_1 is α -Hölder continuous on the set of two-phase points by Step 1 and constant on the set of one-phase points, thanks to Proposition 6.3, we just need to show that if x_0 is a two-phase point such that there is a sequence x_n of one-phase points converging to x_0 , then $m_1(x_0) = m_\eta$. To this end, let $y_n \in \partial \Omega_{u_1} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_2} \cap B_R(x_0)$ be such that

dist
$$(x_n, \partial \Omega_{u_1} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_2} \cap B_R(x_0)) = |x_n - y_n|$$
.

Then we set

$$r_n = |x_n - y_n|$$
 and $u_{1,n}(x) = \frac{1}{r_n} u_1 (x_n + r_n x)$

and note that $u_{1,n}$ is a viscosity solution of the free boundary problem

$$-\Delta u_{1,n} = r_n \lambda_1(\Omega_1) u_{1,n} \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega_{u_{1,n}} \cap B_1, \quad |\nabla u_{1,n}| = m_\eta \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega_{u_{1,n}} \cap B_1$$

Since $u_{1,n}$ are uniformly Lipschitz they converge to a function $u_{1,\infty}$ which is also a viscosity solution of the same problem (thanks to De Silva regularity paper for viscosity solutions [25]). On the other hand, by (6.2), we have that

$$u_{1,\infty}(x) = m_1(x_0) (x \cdot \nu(x_0))^+,$$

which gives that $m_1(x_0) = m_\eta$.

Step 3. Conclusion of the proof of Theorem 6.6. Let $x_0 \in \partial \Omega_{u_1} \cap \partial \Omega_{u_2} \cap B_R(x_0)$ and let $\bar{\varepsilon}$ be the constant in [25, Theorem 1.1]. Thanks to the classification of blowups at two-phase points, we can choose $r_0 > 0$, depending on x_0 , such that

$$\left\|u_{x_0,r_0}-m_{\eta}(x\cdot\nu)^{\pm}\right\|_{\infty}<\bar{\varepsilon},$$

so that thanks to Step 2, we can apply [25, Theorem 1.1] to conclude that locally at x_0 the free boundaries $\partial \Omega_{u_1}$ and $\partial \Omega_{u_2}$ are $C^{1,\alpha}$ graphs. By the arbitrariness of x_0 this concludes the proof for some α . The fact that the result follows for all $\alpha \in [0, 1/2)$ is pointed out in [30]. \square

To conclude, we present a summary with the complete proof of the main theorem of this paper.

Conclusion of the proof of Theorem 1.1. By Lemma 4.6, we may fix $\eta > 0$ sufficiently small to that, by taking an optimal vector $(u_1, \ldots, u_k) \in \overline{H}$ of problem (2.3), then the associated nodal sets

 $(\Omega_{u_1}, \ldots, \Omega_{u_k})$ form an optimal partition of the original constrained optimal partition problem (1.1).

We check that this partition satisfies the statement of Theorem 1.1. First of all, given i,

$$\partial\Omega_{u_i} = \Gamma_{OP}(\partial\Omega_{u_i}) \cup \Gamma_{TP}(\partial\Omega_{u_i}) \cup \Gamma_B(\partial\Omega_{u_i})$$

as a consequence of Theorems 3.1 and 3.2.

The fact that $\Gamma_{TP}(\Omega_{u_i}) \subset \text{Reg}(\partial \Omega_i)$, which is of class $C^{1,\alpha}$, follows from Theorem 6.6. All the remaining properties in (1) follow from Proposition 6.3.

Finally, assuming $C^{1,1}$ regularity of Ω , since the boundary of the box Ω only admits one-phase points and (6.1) holds, [42, Theorem 1.2] shows that there are no singular points on $\partial\Omega$ and that the regular part is $C^{1,1/2}$. In particular, item (2) is proved.

Remark 6.7. As a final remark, we point out that the proof of Lemma 4.1 was already showing that branching points had necessarily to be cusps. In fact, with the same argument therein, if a two-phase branching point were not a cusp, then we could find a new box Ω' for which the point is on the boundary of the box. But then, thanks to Theorem 3.2, we know that there can not be two-phase points in the boundary of the box and we have a contradiction.

A. Some useful results and remarks

Lemma A.1 ([6, Lemma A.1]). Let $u \in L^2(\Omega)$ with $u^+ \neq 0$. Then, for all $\varphi \in L^2(\Omega)$,

$$\frac{1}{\|(u\pm t\varphi)^+\|_2^2} = \frac{1}{\|u^+\|_2^2} \mp \frac{2t}{\|u^+\|_2^4} \int_{\Omega} u^+\varphi + o(t) \qquad \text{as } t \to 0^+.$$

Lemma A.2 ([12, Lemma 4.5]). There exists C > 0 such that, for every R > 0 and $u \in H^1(B_r)$,

$$\frac{1}{r^2} \left| \{ u = 0 \} \cap B_r \right| \left(\oint_{\partial B_r} u \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} \right)^2 \le C_N \int_{B_r} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx$$

where C_N is a constant that depends only on the dimension N.

Lemma A.3. Let u be an $H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ nonnegative function, subharmonic in \mathbb{R}^N , and let $\omega \in B_{\rho} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$. Then

$$\sup_{\omega} u \leq \left(\frac{\rho}{dist(\omega,\partial B_{\rho})}\right)^{N} \oint_{\partial B_{\rho}} u(y) \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(y).$$

In particular, given $\theta \in (0,1)$,

$$\sup_{B_{\theta\rho}\cap\Omega} u \leq \frac{1}{(1-\theta)^N} \oint_{\partial B_{\rho}} u(y) \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(y).$$

Proof. Let v be the harmonic extension of $u|_{\partial B_{\rho}}$ in B_{ρ} , that is, the unique solution of

$$\Delta v = 0 \text{ in } B_{\rho}, \qquad v = u \text{ on } \partial B_{\rho}.$$

Then, by the maximum principle and Poisson's formula, for $x \in \omega$ and since $|x - y| \ge d := dist(\omega, \partial B_{\rho})$ for every $y \in \partial B_{\rho}$,

$$\begin{split} u(x) &\leq v(x) = \frac{\rho^2 - |x|^2}{\rho |\partial B_1|} \int_{\partial B_\rho} \frac{v(y)}{|x - y|^N} \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(y) = \frac{\rho^2 - |x|^2}{\rho |\partial B_1|} \int_{\partial B_\rho} \frac{u(y)}{|x - y|^N} \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(y) \\ &\leq \frac{\rho}{|\partial B_1| d^N} \int_{\partial B_\rho} u(y) \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(y) = \left(\frac{\rho}{dist(\omega, \partial B_\rho)}\right)^N \int_{\partial B_\rho} u(y) \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(y). \end{split}$$
 In the particular case that $\omega = B_{\theta\rho}$, simply observe that $dist(\omega, \partial B_\rho) = (1 - \theta)\rho.$

Lemma A.4 ([12, Lemma 2.14]: three-phase monotonicity lemma). Let $u_i \in H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, i = 1, 2, 3, be three nonnegative Sobolev functions such that $\Delta u_i \geq -1$ for each i = 1, 2, 3, and $u_i \cdot u_j \equiv 0$ in \mathbb{R}^N for

each $i \neq j$. Then there are dimensional constants $\varepsilon > 0$ and C > 0 such that

$$\prod_{i=1}^{3} \left(\frac{1}{r^{2+\varepsilon}} \int_{B_r} \frac{\left| \nabla u_i \right|^2}{\left| x \right|^{N-2}} \, dx \right) \le C \left(1 + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \int_{B_1} \frac{\left| \nabla u_i \right|^2}{\left| x \right|^{N-2}} \, dx \right)^3 \qquad \text{for every } r \in \left(0, \frac{1}{2} \right).$$

Remark A.5. It is well known that, under the assumptions of the previous lemma,

$$\int_{B_1} \frac{|\nabla u_i|^2}{|x|^{N-2}} \, dx \le C \left(1 + \int_{B_2} u_i^2\right)$$

(see [16, Remark 1.2], or [49, Lemma 2.1] for a proof that does not require the continuity of the functions u_i). Therefore,

$$\prod_{i=1}^{3} \left(\frac{1}{r^{2+\varepsilon}} \int_{B_r} \frac{|\nabla u_i|^2}{|x|^{N-2}} \, dx \right) \le C \left(1 + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \int_{B_2} u_i^2 \right)^3 \qquad \text{for every } r \in \left(0, \frac{1}{2} \right). \tag{A.1}$$

A.1. Some fact about Geometric Measure Theory. Here we recall some facts about geometric measure theory, referring for example to [5, Chapter 2] for more information. The De Giorgi perimeter of a Borel set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is the quantity

$$\operatorname{Per}(E) := \sup\left\{\int_E \operatorname{div}(\phi) \, dx \, : \, \phi \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}^N), \, \|\phi\|_{\infty} \le 1\right\} \, .$$

If $Per(E) < +\infty$, then we say that E has finite perimeter.

Equivalently, it can be defined in the setting of functions of bounded variation as the total variation of the distributional derivative of characteristic functions. We recall that if $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is an open set, $u \in L^1(\Omega)$ is a function of bounded variation, and we write $u \in BV(\Omega)$, when the distributional derivative Du of u is an \mathbb{R}^N -valued finite Radon measure. Then $E \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is a set of finite perimeter, if and only if $\chi_E \in BV(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and

$$\operatorname{Per}(E) = |D\chi_E|(\mathbb{R}^N) =: ||D\chi_E||_{TV(\mathbb{R}^N)}.$$
(A.2)

Whenever it exists, the quantity

$$\theta_E(x) := \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{|E \cap B_r(x)|}{|B_r(x)|} \in [0, 1],$$

is called the density of a Borel set E at x. Given $t \in [0,1]$, we denote by E^t the subset of points of \mathbb{R}^N such that $\theta_E(x) = t$, and we call essential boundary of E the set $\partial^e E = E \setminus (E^0 \cup E^1)$. Eventually, we define the reduced boundary of E as the set $\partial^* E \subset \partial^e E$ of points of the essential boundary such that the measure theoretic inner unit normal

$$\nu_E(x) := \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{D\chi_E(B_r(x))}{|D\chi_E|(B_r(x))|}$$

exists.

The geometry of the boundary of sets of finite perimeter is described by the following two fundamental results.

Theorem A.6 (De Giorgi's Structure Theorem). Let E be a set of finite perimeter. Then $\partial^* E$ is \mathcal{H}^{N-1} -rectifiable, $P(E) = \mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\partial^* E)$ and, if $x \in \partial^* E$, then (E - x)/r converges in L^1_{loc} to the hyperspace orthogonal to $\nu_E(x)$, as $r \to 0$. Moreover the following divergence formula holds:

$$\int_E \operatorname{div} \phi \, dx = - \int_{\partial^* E} \phi \cdot \nu_E \, d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} \,,$$

for any vector field $\phi \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}^N)$.

Theorem A.7 (Federer's Structure Theorem). Let E be a set of finite perimeter. Then $\partial^* E \subset E^{1/2}$ and $\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(\partial^e E \setminus \partial^* E) = 0$. In particular $\partial^* E$, $E^{1/2}$, and $\partial^e E$ are equivalent, up to a \mathcal{H}^{N-1} -negligible set.

A.2. Some facts about quasi-open sets. Finally, we recall some definitions and facts about quasi-open sets which will be needed in the paper.

Definition A.8. A quasi-open set is a measurable set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ such that for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists K_{ε} compact such that its (Newtonian) capacity $\operatorname{cap}(K_{\varepsilon}) < \varepsilon$ and $\Omega \setminus K_{\varepsilon}$ is open. Similarly, a function $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is quasi-continuous if for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a compact set K_{ε} such that $\operatorname{cap}(K_{\varepsilon}) < \varepsilon$ and the restriction of u to $\Omega \setminus K_{\varepsilon}$ is continuous. Eventually, we say that a property holds quasi-everywhere on a set if it holds up to a set of null-capacity.

It is well-known that every $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ admits a quasi-continuous representative \tilde{u} . Moreover, if \tilde{u} and \hat{u} are two quasi-continuous representatives of u, then they are equal quasi-everywhere. Therefore, in this paper, for every $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ we identify it with its quasi-continuous representative. A quasi-open set is then simply a superlevel set of (the quasi-continuous representative of) a function $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$. For more details on quasi-open sets and quasi-continuous functions, and the definition of capacity we refer for example to [32, Chapter 3].

Let us also stress that it is standard to define the Sobolev space H_0^1 on a quasi-open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ as

$$H_0^1(\Omega) = \{ u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N) : u = 0 \text{ quasi-everywhere in } \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \Omega \}$$

If Ω is an open set, this definition coincides with the usual one, see [32, Section 3.3.5] for more details.

Acknowledgements: Dario Mazzoleni has been partially supported by the MUR via PRIN projects, funded by the European Union – Next Generation EU, "NO³" P2022R537CS (CUP_F53D23002810006) and "Mathematics for Industry 4.0" P2020F3NCPX (CUP_F19J21017440001), and by the INdAM-GNAMPA project 2024 CUP_E53C23001670001. Hugo Tavares and Makson S. Santos are partially supported by the Portuguese government through FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia, I.P., under the projects UID/MAT/04459/2020 and PTDC/MAT-PUR/1788/2020.

References

- N. Aguilera, H. W. Alt, and L. A. Caffarelli. An optimization problem with volume constraint. SIAM J. Control Optim., 24(2):191–198, 1986.
- [2] O. Alper. On the singular set of free interface in an optimal partition problem. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 73(4):855– 915, 2020.
- [3] H. W. Alt and L. A. Caffarelli. Existence and regularity for a minimum problem with free boundary. J. Reine Angew. Math., 325:105–144, 1981.
- [4] H. W. Alt, L. A. Caffarelli, and A. Friedman. Variational problems with two phases and their free boundaries. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 282(2):431–461, 1984.
- [5] L. Ambrosio, N. Fusco, and D. Pallara. Functions of bounded variation and free discontinuity problems. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 2000.
- [6] P. Andrade, E. Moreira dos Santos, M. Santos, and H. Tavares. Spectral partition problems with volume and inclusion constraints. SIAM J. Math. Anal., to appear (2024).
- B. Bogosel and B. Velichkov. A multiphase shape optimization problem for eigenvalues: qualitative study and numerical results. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 54(1):210–241, 2016.
- [8] L. Brasco, G. De Philippis, and B. Velichkov. Faber-Krahn inequalities in sharp quantitative form. Duke Math. J., 164(9):1777–1831, 2015.
- [9] T. Briançon, M. Hayouni, and M. Pierre. Lipschitz continuity of state functions in some optimal shaping. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 23(1):13–32, 2005.
- [10] T. Briançon and J. Lamboley. Regularity of the optimal shape for the first eigenvalue of the Laplacian with volume and inclusion constraints. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire, 26(4):1149–1163, 2009.
- [11] D. Bucur, D. Mazzoleni, A. Pratelli, and B. Velichkov. Lipschitz regularity of the eigenfunctions on optimal domains. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 216(1):117–151, 2015.
- [12] D. Bucur and B. Velichkov. Multiphase shape optimization problems. SIAM J. Control Optim., 52(6):3556–3591, 2014.
- [13] G. Buttazzo and G. Dal Maso. Shape optimization for Dirichlet problems: relaxed formulation and optimality conditions. Appl. Math. Optim., 23(1):17–49, 1991.
- [14] L. Caffarelli and S. Salsa. A geometric approach to free boundary problems, volume 68 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2005.
- [15] L. A. Caffarelli. A Harnack inequality approach to the regularity of free boundaries. III. Existence theory, compactness, and dependence on X. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), 15(4):583–602, 1988.
- [16] L. A. Caffarelli, D. Jerison, and C. E. Kenig. Some new monotonicity theorems with applications to free boundary problems. Ann. of Math. (2), 155(2):369–404, 2002.
- [17] L. A. Caffarelli, D. Jerison, and C. E. Kenig. Global energy minimizers for free boundary problems and full regularity in three dimensions. In *Noncompact problems at the intersection of geometry, analysis, and topology*, volume 350 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 83–97. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004.
- [18] L. A. Caffarelli and F. H. Lin. An optimal partition problem for eigenvalues. J. Sci. Comput., 31(1-2):5–18, 2007.
- [19] M. Conti, S. Terracini, and G. Verzini. An optimal partition problem related to nonlinear eigenvalues. J. Funct. Anal., 198(1):160–196, 2003.
- [20] M. Conti, S. Terracini, and G. Verzini. On a class of optimal partition problems related to the Fučík spectrum and to the monotonicity formulae. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 22(1):45–72, 2005.
- [21] M. Conti, S. Terracini, and G. Verzini. A variational problem for the spatial segregation of reaction-diffusion systems. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 54(3):779–815, 2005.
- [22] G. David, M. Engelstein, M. Smit Vega Garcia, and T. Toro. Regularity for almost-minimizers of variable coefficient Bernoulli-type functionals. Math. Z., 299(3-4):2131–2169, 2021.
- [23] E. B. Davies. Heat kernels and spectral theory, volume 92 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1989.
- [24] G. De Philippis, L. Spolaor, and B. Velichkov. Regularity of the free boundary for the two-phase Bernoulli problem. Invent. Math., 225(2):347–394, 2021.

- [25] D. De Silva. Free boundary regularity for a problem with right hand side. Interfaces Free Bound., 13(2):223–238, 2011.
- [26] D. De Silva, F. Ferrari, and S. Salsa. Two-phase free boundary problems: from existence to smoothness. Adv. Nonlinear Stud., 17(2):369–385, 2017.
- [27] D. De Silva, D. Jerison, and H. Shahgholian. Inhomogeneous global minimizers to the one-phase free boundary problem. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 47(6):1193–1216, 2022.
- [28] M. Dias and H. Tavares. Optimal uniform bounds for competing variational elliptic systems with variable coefficients. Nonlinear Anal., 235:Paper No. 113348, 59, 2023.
- [29] N. Edelen and M. Engelstein. Quantitative stratification for some free-boundary problems. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 371(3):2043–2072, 2019.
- [30] L. Ferreri and B. Velichkov. A one-sided two phase bernoulli free boundary problem. *Preprint*, https://arxiv.org/abs/2309.01749, 2023.
- [31] S. Friedland and W. K. Hayman. Eigenvalue inequalities for the Dirichlet problem on spheres and the growth of subharmonic functions. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, 51(2):133–161, 1976.
- [32] A. Henrot and M. Pierre. Shape variation and optimization. A geometrical analysis, volume 28 of EMS Tracts in Mathematics. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2018.
- [33] D. Jerison and O. Savin. Some remarks on stability of cones for the one-phase free boundary problem. Geom. Funct. Anal., 25(4):1240–1257, 2015.
- [34] D. Kinderlehrer and L. Nirenberg. Regularity in free boundary problems. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), 4(2):373–391, 1977.
- [35] D. Kriventsov and F. Lin. Regularity for shape optimizers: the degenerate case. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 72(8):1678– 1721, 2019.
- [36] F. Maggi. Sets of finite perimeter and geometric variational problems. An introduction to geometric measure theory, volume 135 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2012.
- [37] N. Matevosyan and A. Petrosyan. Almost monotonicity formulas for elliptic and parabolic operators with variable coefficients. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 64(2):271–311, 2011.
- [38] D. Mazzoleni, S. Terracini, and B. Velichkov. Regularity of the optimal sets for some spectral functionals. Geom. Funct. Anal., 27(2):373–426, 2017.
- [39] D. Mazzoleni, B. Trey, and B. Velichkov. Regularity of the optimal sets for the second Dirichlet eigenvalue. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire, 39(3):529–573, 2022.
- [40] R. Ognibene and B. Velichkov. Boundary regularity of the free interface in spectral optimal partition problems. *Preprint*, https://arxiv.org/abs/2404.05698, 2024.
- [41] M. Ramos, H. Tavares, and S. Terracini. Extremality conditions and regularity of solutions to optimal partition problems involving Laplacian eigenvalues. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 220(1):363–443, 2016.
- [42] E. Russ, B. Trey, and B. Velichkov. Existence and regularity of optimal shapes for elliptic operators with drift. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 58(6):Paper No. 199, 59, 2019.
- [43] N. Soave, H. Tavares, and A. Zilio. Free boundary problems with long-range interactions: uniform Lipschitz estimates in the radius. Math. Ann., 386(1-2):551–585, 2023.
- [44] N. Soave and S. Terracini. An anisotropic monotonicity formula, with applications to some segregation problems. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 25(9):3727–3765, 2023.
- [45] L. Spolaor, B. Trey, and B. Velichkov. Free boundary regularity for a multiphase shape optimization problem. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 45(2):77–108, 2020.
- [46] L. Spolaor and B. Velichkov. An epiperimetric inequality for the regularity of some free boundary problems: the 2-dimensional case. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 72(2):375–421, 2019.
- [47] H. Tavares and S. Terracini. Regularity of the nodal set of segregated critical configurations under a weak reflection law. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 45(3-4):273–317, 2012.
- [48] G. Tortone. Liouville theorems and optimal regularity in elliptic equations. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3), 128(3):Paper No. e12587, 24, 2024.
- [49] B. Velichkov. A note on the monotonicity formula of Caffarelli-Jerison-Kenig. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl., 25(2):165–189, 2014.
- [50] B. Velichkov. Regularity of the One-phase Free Boundaries. Lecture Notes of the Unione Matematica Italiana. Springer, 2023.

[51] A. Wagner. Optimal shape problems for eigenvalues. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 30(7-9):1039–1063, 2005.

[52] G. S. Weiss. Partial regularity for a minimum problem with free boundary. J. Geom. Anal., 9(2):317–326, 1999.

Dipartimento di Matematica "F. Casorati"

University of Pavia

Via Ferrata 5, 27100 Pavia (Italy)

dario.mazzoleni@unipv.it

MAKSON S. SANTOS AND HUGO TAVARES Departamento de Matemática do Instituto Superior Técnico Universidade de Lisboa 1049-001 Lisboa, Portugal makson.santos@tecnico.ulisboa.pt,

hugo.n.tavares@tecnico.ulisboa.pt

DARIO MAZZOLENI